SHAPING YOUNG EUROPEANS. AN ETHNOGRAPHY OF THE ERASMUS+: YOUTH IN ACTION PROGRAM

By Federico Pozzoni

Submitted to Central European University Department of Nationalism Studies

In partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Arts in Nationalism Studies

Supervisor: Prof. Luca Váradi

Budapest, Hungary 2018

ABSTRACT

My thesis investigates the Erasmus+: Youth in Action Program as the main field of construction of a supranational European identity for young people in the European Union. Through the lenses of nationalism studies and ethnography, I look at how the imagination of such a supranational community trickles down from above, and observe how the understanding of belonging to a European community is retained from below. For the top-down perspective, I consider the critical discourse analysis of the official communications by the European Commission and one semistructured interview with an expert in the implementation of the Program. In particular, my research highlights the official aims and background strategies to instill the sense of belonging to a European community through the focus on employability, civic participation and international mobility. For the bottom-up perspective, I assume an insider ethnographic position following the local and international network of two Italian NGOs involved in the Program. I analyze the results of three group discussions conducted with beneficiaries of the Program and examine the importance of non-formal education and interculturality in their European identification. The combination of such different perspectives finally permits the account of this supranational identity in the making through a process simultaneously conceived and analyzed from above and from below, encompassing both symbolic and instrumental conceptualizations.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Thanks to my thesis supervisor and my other privileged peer reviewers, notably Federica and Stefano, for the precious comments and time dedicated. Thanks to the interviewee and all the participants in group discussions, in particular to Associazione di promozione sociale Joint and Progetti Europei di Cooperazione. Thanks to my family, to all the colleagues and friends who I have met along the way. This has also been a summary of the past four years of my life.

Table of contents

ABSTRACT	i
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	ii
Table of contents	iii
List of Abbreviations	V
Introduction	1
Chapter 1 - Theoretical Framework and Literature Review	4
European Identity	4
European Culture	7
European Citizenship and Mobility	9
Chapter 2 - Research Scope and Methodology	13
Context of Analysis	13
Methodology and Data Collection	16
Table of Informants	21
Chapter 3 - European Construction through the Erasmus+ Program from Above	22
Methodological Notes	22
Analysis: Employability & Commodification	23
Civic Participation and Extra-EU Borders	26

Interculturality, Non-Formal Education and Multiculturalism	28
Recognition and Solidarity	34
Summary of Findings	36
Chapter 4 - European Construction through the Erasmus+ Progran	n from Below38
Methodological Notes	38
Analysis: Youth, Employability and National Identity	40
Interculturality	43
Social Inclusion	46
Non-Formal Education and EU Citizenship	47
Summary of Findings	50
Conclusion	52
Bibliography	58

List of Abbreviations

EACEA = Education, Audiovisual and Culture Executive Agency

EC= European Commission

ESC = European Solidarity Corps

EU = European Union

EVS = European Voluntary Service

SALTO-Youth = Support, Advanced Learning and Training Opportunities for Youth

TC = Training Course

YE = Youth Exchange

Introduction

This thesis explores the case of the Erasmus+: Youth in Action Program as the main socio-cultural component of a supranational project for young people in the European Union. Erasmus+ is an EU program resulting from the merging of seven prior programs to support education, training, youth and sport in Europe. Its "Youth" chapter, named Erasmus+: Youth Action Program (from now on: Program) funds intercultural exchanges, training courses and volunteering projects based on nonformal learning and active participation of young people (14 to 30 years old). The aim of my thesis is to analyze the means of the Program to create an "imagined community" (Anderson 1991) in a globalized European space connoted by transnational mobility.

The main theories of nationalism studies related with the formation of the European Union refer to both the spillover agenda of the EU institutions, trickling down the effects of the common market economy into a socio-cultural uniformity, and the classic creation of a common symbolism with its own "invented tradition" (Hobsbawm 1983). By applying this double framework to the European Union, I will test these assumptions on the educational and youth mobility projects of the Program, in order to explore its supranational project from above (the official point of view) and from a below perspective (of beneficiaries: participants and youth workers).

I consider the Program as a laboratory that fosters the implementation of a transnational European community for young people (whereas the preferred target group is constituted by less privileged participants), connoted by intercultural diversity and social inclusion. At the same time, Erasmus+ is regarded as an alternative model to the national school systems, building on non-formal education methods and its public recognition, rather than on fixed ministerial-like programs. I observe this laboratory following the perspective of insider ethnography, thus concentrating on the thick description of the social dynamics displayed in this field.

Furthermore, in the specific context considered, I argue that the development of a particular European identity in terms of cultural and political belonging (within the realm of Western democracy) is also contemplated as a process opposing the emergence of neo-nationalist movements. On the other hand, I will show how the Program reflects the importance of a common and cohesive European labor market and democracy. Indeed, the Program focus on employability and the implementation of non-formal education projects. These are usually oriented towards interculturality and the improvement of soft skills for self-development and active participation in the society though different types of experiences offered to young people.

My thesis aims to look at how the Erasmus+: Youth in Action Program shapes the sociocultural identity of young people in the context of a supranational European community, while still
being interpreted and implemented through national and class segmentations. It investigates the
keystones of the Program from two parallel perspectives. One is the official, top-down one; the other
is how the Program is effectively carried out, mediated and perceived by the network of its active
users from below. It explores how a language of commodification has been used together with a
quantitative emphasis on numbers of young people to mobilize in order to react to the uprising of
neo-nationalist movements that constitute a centrifugal force against the European Union, and to
instill a centripetal European interest based on the discovery of different cultures and the possibility
of free movement with non-formal education projects sponsored by the European Commission.

I will also look into the hybridity of the roles and identities of participants and youth workers in the Program. These beneficiaries represent a focal point of mediation and deployment of meanings and resources in receiving and performing the goals of the Program. Finally, I will explore what kind of conflicts and fragmentations come into play when the perception of the European community conveyed by the Program trickles down from the official aims to a national context of implementation.

In the first part of the thesis, I introduce the theoretical framework and a review of the existing literature on European identity, culture, citizenship and mobility.

In the second chapter, I proceed to present the historical background and studies that refer to the specific context of analysis of European exchange programs for young people, before defining the research scope and methodology proposed for this research.

Thirdly, I look at different sources corresponding to the vision of the Program, and therefore to the imagination of the European community for young people, from above and from below. Concerning the top-down perspective, I analyze official texts from the European Commission (EC) related to the vision and the goals of the Program since its establishment: Communications from the EC and the Erasmus+ Guide (2018). Moreover, one interview with an official involved in the planning and implementation of the Program's activities with a focus on France and Southern Mediterranean countries will be examined in order to complement the official presentation with background information. For what concerns the bottom-up perspective, I have conducted three group discussions with eleven participants and youth workers in the Program altogether from Milan and Genoa, Italy. The discussions will be analyzed in order to understand the reception of the Program by those who are directly involved in it; and to investigate the discrepancies that appear between the official guidelines and the actual implementation. The focus on the Southern European and particularly Italian context, rather than constituting a bias in the observation of a European dimension, will instead serve as a particular point of view where certain dynamics become relevant for a general interpretation. By being the nation with the highest number of Erasmus+ projects implemented, and also central in the key objectives of the Program such as unemployment, poor formal education system and migration, Italy catalyzes the most relevant aspects of the investigation.

Ultimately, I will discuss the findings of my research, building on the field of nationalism studies and the anthropological exploration of the Program. Several categories emerge as elements of discussion, connecting the pillars of the Program to the main theoretical components. A multi-faceted structure of analysis will include the topics of non-formal education, employability, interculturality and social inclusion as core elements that reflect the theoretical discussion over a European identity, thus contributing to develop the analysis of a supranational European community in the making.

Chapter 1 - Theoretical Framework and Literature Review

European Identity

This study contributes to the debate on identity definition in the supranational case of the European Union. The concept of identity, rather than being taken for granted or used as a stable definition, will be regarded critically to challenge the assumptions on the creation of a collective and transnational belonging. Following the indications of Brubaker & Cooper (2007), Sophie Duchesne (2008) accounts that the concept of collective identity was developed by anthropologists and social psychologists to study issues of gender, race and class. In line with the work of Gillespie and Laffan (2006), the author places European identity back in the Westphalian concept of territorial integration and the modern nation-building process of post-industrialization. Hence, different European individual categories do not form any kind of social groups that could be compared to gender, race or class, but they are rather the product of historical and political construction over conflictual borders. Therefore, Duchesne prefers the definition of "identification with Europe" (2008:403) as a narrower concept that does not need social units and is accountable both for the individual and the group feeling of belonging. At the same time, European identity as a category of practice, which the author defines as a "heuristic concept of European identity" (2008:41), is a developing process universally acknowledged. This is also exemplified by a research from CNRS and Centre for Political Research at Sciences Po indicating that "The so called 'Moreno' question – 'Do you in the near future see yourself as (nationality) only, (nationality) and European, European and (nationality) or European only?' – has become a standard question in Eurobarometer surveys since 1992. It replaced an earlier question where being European was proposed as a possible complement to national identity" (2008:399). Moreover, by using this definition, it is possible to avoid the contradictory debate between federalism and post- or supra-nationalism over the definition of identity.

Building on Duchesne's perspective, I would argue that the formulation of "identification with Europe" is more appropriate for speaking of European identity in the framework of the Erasmus+ Program. Moreover, within this context European identity is something that needs to be continuously performed during the various stages of the Erasmus+ projects, from preparation to implementation (and at different stages within implementation) and evaluation. In this respect, it is different than the static and well-bound vision of the Commission, for which:

Freedom, democracy, equality, respect for the rule of law, human rights and dignity are the fundamental values on which the European Union is based. They form part of our European identity. Education, culture and sport have a pivotal role in promoting active citizenship and common values amongst the youngest generations. Their combination in concrete projects in local communities contributes to the strengthening of the sense of European identity (European Commission 2017:5).

In general, Lisanne Wilken (2015) distinguishes between three main anthropological approaches to the study of European identity construction. The first two, "from above", are represented by considering it either as a process of engineering through cultural policies, or by focusing on its framing among the EU officials through the ethnography of institutions. The third approach, "from below", considers instead the European space as a new frame for identity construction locally and across Europe, utilized by autochthonous minorities who profited from European integration to reframe their own identities as well as neo-nationalist parties who oppose the vision of the Brussels élite, however referring to a Christian civilizational commonality between the European countries.

In the discussion of the construction "from above", Cris Shore is probably the most prolific and reliable author in the field of anthropology and nationalism. In his essay "Inventing Homo Europeaus", he theorized that during the 1990s the European Union created a "embryonic state without a nation" (2001:57), through a neo-functionalist spillover approach according to which a shared sense of belonging would have been constructed after the common market economy. In the same period, following from Maastricht (1993) and the Amsterdam Treaty (1999), most of the foundational values where put in place by the European institutions to forge a "People's Europe".

Towards the 2000s instead, the configuration of the European integration process is described as a transnational space of networks which expands into the realm of the national. In this case, EU officials are described as colonial agents, who are "in Brussels, but not of it" (Shore 2006:715). Similarly, Renita Thedvall argues that these "EU's nomads" (2007) have to represent simultaneously national and European interests, causing a blurring of political boundaries in a sort of post-national space. Along this line, it is also interesting to highlight the debate concerning the European symbols and the European "Others" discussed by Wilken (2015:130-1). The author cites Johan Fornäs' work on the euro currency (2009) as an example of "unwaved flags" (Billig 1995) that create a common everyday narrative. Together with the flag, the anthem, the European Capital of Culture, etc. these tools are simultaneously symbolic and instrumental.

On the other hand, the considerations about the othering are equally important for the definition of the European in-group. The divide between Eastern and Western Europe (Shore and Black 1994; Shore 2006) has been decreasing after the Eastern Enlargement Strategy of the EU towards the post-Soviet space, while a major division between North and South has spread after the 2008 economic crisis. Neo-nationalistic stances have moved towards most of the European countries, organizing competing visions but often referring to the belonging of the same European Christian family (Wilken 2015:138). Rogers Brubaker (2017) proposes the definition of "civilizationism" for the recent identitarian Christian discourse opposed to strong anti-Muslim rhetoric, as a new trend that has been increasing in Europe and North America. The exclusion of Morocco and Turkey from the accession to EU also seems to symbolize the othering towards Islam. This discourse is also connected with the redefinition of a European cultural understanding, which can be explored from the below perspective through the practical understanding of the European features for the Erasmus+ projects participants.

The main literature therefore considers different angles of investigation of the European identity: the symbolic and the instrumental one, its conceptualization from above and, in fewer cases, its interpretation from below. All these angles will be taken in consideration in my analysis, which

especially reinforces the bottom-up focus from the particular viewpoint of beneficiaries of the Erasmus+: Youth in Action Program.

European Culture

Similarly to identity, the notion of culture should not be observed from an essentialist perspective, but rather approached with a multiform and dynamic vision. Ralph Grillo (2003) reflects on the essentialist understanding of "culture" in the everyday language and the public characterization of "anxiety about our culture" especially in contemporary Europe. However, the author identifies a third existing way related with the debate about European culture in the European Commission and the Council of Europe, where it is rather linked to a socio-historical and political-legal understanding. Culture will then be considered here as a process in constant evolution, with a particular regard for the symbolic aspects fostered by the communitarian institutions.

This research also relies on the findings of previous anthropology of policy and ethnography of institutions. Irène Bellier and Thomas Wilson (2000) explore the EU as political project and object, especially looking at the microcosms of European institutions and problematizing the notions of European identity and culture in order to analyze them without reifying them. Shore (2000) focuses on the usage of the concept of culture by European policy-makers, in order to create a sense of European identity to advance integration and governance in the transnational space of the EU. Marc Abèles states that if there is a European culture, it must be found within the "practitioners of Europe" (2009). In the results of his ethnographic observations at the European Parliament and Commission in the beginning of the 1990s, he discusses the consequences of pluralism and multilingualism found in the institutions' everyday lives. According to Abèles, there is a tension between the single culture of European practitioners ("new cultural actors", generally called with the pejorative term "Eurocrats") and the supra-national unity that the European community aims at fostering. The "practitioners of Europe", quite distantly from the rest of EU citizens, have produced their own single

culture through a common space of mediation, which is constantly renegotiated within the European community. The latter, far from being an established entity anchored in past traditions, is instead a "projected entity" (2009:32), based on a post-nationalist understanding of plurilinguism and multiculturalism. The choice of the word "community", according to Abèles, is itself intended to signify more than a common European market and legal framework, recalled by the denomination "Union". EU officials therefore incorporate the true essence of the European civic engagement, which is symbolized by EU citizenship. Cris Shore and Annabel Black account how the idea of "selling the Community" (in the words of one of their informants from the European Commission) of a "People's Europe" (1994: 285) became central since the mid 1970s. The crossing of intra-EU frontiers in particular came along with the creation of a "common cultural heritage" (1994: 294) resulting from different cultural initiatives.

After 1985 especially, "emphasis was placed on the cultural and symbolic dimensions of citizenship, including education, training and 'consciousness-raising' campaigns involving the creation of a new repertoire of self-consciously constructed 'Euro-symbols'" (1994: 286). In this sense, the non-formal education projects of Erasmus+ may then try to make up for the lack of EU institutions comparable to national schools and media in forging a sense of shared belonging especially among the young generations. The first wave of Erasmus students in 1987 anticipated the establishment of the European passport, which was an outcome of the reports of the special committee chaired by Pietro Adonnino in 1984, together with a standardized European driving license, anthem and flag.

However, from a bottom-up perspective, Will Kymlicka (2003) states that as long as citizens accept the three criteria of multinational state (belongs equally to all citizens; repudiates nation-building policies that assimilates or excludes members of minority groups; acknowledges the historic injustice done to minority groups), they do not need to turn multicultural themselves. For example, concerning the first criterion, accepting that the state should belong equally to all citizens does not imply that those citizens should equally try to integrate and learn about all the cultures and the

minority customs within the state. In those successful cases of multicultural states, the citizens adopt a "cosmopolitan interculturalism" (2003:159): they represent themselves as citizens of the world with international tastes in food, popular culture, travel, etc., rather than adopting a form of "local interculturalism" (2003:161), which would imply an everyday interaction with neighbors from different backgrounds. Along with this first contradiction, Kymlicka identifies two more tensions in the paradigm: those of "interculturalism versus isolationism" (2003:161), where the latter is practiced by conservative religious groups at the opposite pole of citizens genuinely curious about other cultures, and "interculturalism versus tokenism" (2003:163), which represents a superficial knowledge of other cultures fostered by intercultural programs that promote a rather essentialist understanding of culture.

The investigation along these lines can provide a useful framework to explore an evolving European culture in the context of the Erasmus+ Program, which already merges interculturalism, education and international mobility for young people.

European Citizenship and Mobility

Confusion might arise in distinguishing the notions of nationality and citizenship when proposing a new definition of European citizenship. Catherine Neveu (2000) advocates for emancipating from the model of national citizenship as a reference when discussing European citizenship, although one should also be careful in separating completely a new or post-national access to citizenship from the national public sphere, as the latter comprehends cultural-symbolic elements of common culture, language and ethnicity. Indeed, citizenship also entails a performative dimension that can be enacted through policies and programs (Bellier and Wilson 2000). In this respect, "citizenship is rather a practice and a process than a stable shape. It is always 'in the making'" (Balibar 2004; Neveu & Filippova 2012: 181).

According to Rainer Bauböck, Europe represents the only case of supranational citizenship: a "vertically-nested structure of membership" (2007: 454), that works in a constellation of politics at the local, national and supranational level. In this scenario, Christian Joppke has described the evolution of citizenship along the dimensions of status, rights and identity. The element of political participation has been left out because nowadays what we see is the evolution towards a "citizenship-light": easy to access, quite depoliticized and a bearer of numerous rights but few obligations (Joppke 2010). Joppke's analysis concentrates especially on Europe after the Eastern Enlargement strategy (2004-07), highlighting the centrality of the freedom of movement after the Maastricht Treaty:

(Art 8a): Every citizen of the Union shall have the right to move and reside freely within the territory of the Member States, subject to the limitations and conditions laid down in this Treaty and by the measures adopted to give it effect – Treaty on European Union (Maastricht Treaty, 1993), emphasis added.

For Joppke the critical conceptualization of EU citizenship as "market citizenship" is no longer valid: between 1998 and 2004, the European Court of Justice took out the economic factor from free movement and social rights, making it "socially consequential" (2010: 164-66). He concludes that with the introduction of EU citizenship, Europe is shifting from the criterion of nationality to the instrumental usage of residence permits, similarly to the U.S.'s developing importance of the green card. On the other side, the emphasis on the symbolic and identitarian aspect of citizenship is highlighted by the same European institutions:

(The EU citizenship is) both a source of legitimation of the process of European integration, by reinforcing the participation of citizenship, and a fundamental factor in *the creation among citizens of a sense of belonging of the European Union and of having a genuine European identity* –The Commission on Citizenship of the Union (2001), emphasis added.

Gilbert Weiss and Ruth Wodak (2000) undertake an ethnographic and linguistic analysis of the discourses and decision-making processes of the EU on employment and unemployment, focusing on the globalization discourse that often comes into play. According to the authors, the globalization rhetoric acts by emphasizing economic arguments at the cost of social ones and invokes the crossing of the left and right divide to reach the definition of flexible citizens under the universal horizon of a

common depoliticized market, and the related discursive construction based on economic fear. The authors read the distinction of the EU from other global players in economic terms and account for the internal socio-economic differentiation caused by the priorities of competition and flexibility that sustain the framework of the supranational European creation, concluding that the social demands in this new political union are marginalized by the economic necessities.

From a similar perspective, Nora Siklodi (2015) connects the introduction of European citizenship with the processes of differentiation (between and among EU citizens) and exclusion (of "others", non-EU citizens) through the progression of globalization. The author proposes to redefine the dichotomy of passive/active citizens into a stayers/mobiles dichotomy of citizens in the EU, relying on the Bourdieusian notion of "cultural capital". She analyzes empirical data from focus groups of visiting EU ("mobiles") and home students ("stayers") in Sweden across three different axes: identity, rights and participation; exploring the students' perception of EU citizenship. In her findings, she outlines a positive meaning of EU citizenship in construction, and identified the "stayers" as an outgroup versus their own international community, while home students showed a limited impact on their engagement with the non-Swedish. Concerning EU rights, students identified the "elitist" character of mobility, which is then reserved for a minority of the EU population. The analysis of the focus groups also found differences between the EU-15 and CEE, but the interviewees anticipated that these will phase out in the future. Concerning EU participation, there were differences in the means of political participation (protesting and volunteering were preferred by "mobile" students versus local elections for the "stayers"), while voting in the EU elections was not taken so seriously; contradicting the positive value approach to identity. The article concludes by saying that the dichotomy of mobile/stayers should be further explored (starting from the cultural capital) especially to investigate the presumed cosmopolitan outlook informed by globalization in Europe.

Ultimately, I will argue in the following pages, in this model lies the major component of the identification with a European community imagined through mobility and interculturality. Rather than defending supra-national interests in its rhetoric, the European project offers lifelong learning

and mobility opportunities. The research would thus contribute to the field of nationalism studies by analyzing how the unique construction of European supranational belonging is carried out through the Erasmus+ Program.

Chapter 2 - Research Scope and Methodology

Context of Analysis

Besides the theoretical framework, the historical context and more specific information on Erasmus+ and previous studies related to the international mobility of young people will be outlined in order to complete the general framework in which the analysis is incorporated.

With the Treaty of Rome (1957), the six founding members of the European Coal and Steel Community (France, Germany, Italy, Belgium, the Netherlands, and Luxembourg) granted to their working citizens the possibility to move and reside freely, thus establishing the European Economic Community. Borders became even more fluid with the Schengen Agreement (1985) and the Maastricht Treaty (1992). Since then, member states have made "efforts to encourage educational exchanges and to ease the portability of educational qualifications" (Olsen & McCormick 2017:271). In other words, programs such as Erasmus and Erasmus+ have been put into place to try and pass on this newly found EU culture in a top-down process from the practitioners to regular EU citizens. The analysis of the macro level will therefore follow this perspective to understand how the Erasmus+: Youth in Action Program intends to plan the mobility of future European workers through a discourse on social inclusion, cohesion and intercultural education.

With a budget of 14.7 billion euros, the current Erasmus+ Program (2014-2020) aims to "provide opportunities for over 4 million people to study, train, gain work experience and volunteer abroad" (European Commission 2018), enhancing a "sense of belonging to a community" (European Commission, Erasmus+ Guide 2018). The constantly increasing budget for socio-cultural programs signifies the growing attention of the European Commission to the symbolic sense of belonging of citizens to the European Union. Celebrating its thirty years of existence in 2017, the Erasmus+ Program has involved around 9 million people in higher education study exchanges (4,400,000 students), youth exchanges (1,400,000 participants), vocational training learners (1,300,000),

education staff and youth workers (1,800,000), European volunteers (100,000) and Erasmus Mundus students and staff (100,000). In particular, the higher education exchange students rose every year from a total of 3,000 students in 1987/88 to 347,100 students in 2017/18 (European Commission 2017). Although the share of native-born population living abroad in another EU Member State is on average less than 4% (Eurostat 2011), the EU Commission's efforts indicate that the instrumental value of European citizenship is becoming increasingly entrenched with its symbolic capacity of representing the collective right to move and reside freely.

Furthermore, besides participants, the Erasmus+ Youth Program also involves youth workers in the development and implementation of the projects. I rely on the definition of youth workers provided by the SALTO-Youth Training and Cooperation Resource Centre:

Youth workers work with young people in a wide variety of non-formal and informal learning contexts, typically focusing on their young charges' personal and social development through one-on-one relationships and group-based activities. While acting as trainers/facilitators may be their main task, it is just as likely for youth workers to take a socio- educational or social work-based approach. In many cases, these roles and functions overlap - SALTO 2014:7.

The projects funded by the Erasmus+: Youth in Action Program are implemented at a local level with international participants and non-formal education techniques to create intercultural and equal settings. Youth workers active in the Erasmus+ Youth program also mirror and replicate the same transnational community of the projects' participants, to the extent that they represent the highest personification of "mobile citizens" in the European Union. Most of the time they have been involved in international projects based on formal or non-formal education themselves, acquiring a cosmopolitan lifestyle and advocating for open borders and intercultural opportunities. Their own training is based on participation in international seminars organized by other NGOs or Erasmus+ National Agencies. Considering their particular role, in between being participants and in direct contact with the officials, youth workers can thus be analyzed as part of a network in which they act and are positioned.

Largely, Erasmus+ Youth projects provide only partial funds for the salary of youth workers who coordinate and carry out the projects. Therefore, youth organizations and NGOs need to look for co-funding strategies for their salaries and projects' implementation. Moreover, youth workers are an interesting case of encounter between European mobility and youth precariousness. They experience a model of flexibility and a new type of transnational commuting that is not ascribable to linear migration from state to state, nor diasporic community formation; it is rather a circular migration where the boundary between choice and obligation becomes rather indistinct (Raffini 2014). Raffini shows the correlation between mobility and economic differences between Northern Europe and the European South. The latter's data from 2014 show the extent to which the economic crisis has impacted unemployment rates in Italy (46%), Spain and Greece (55%), while the average salaries are lower than the symbolic 1000€ envisaged before 2008 (2014: 150). Furthermore, since the Maastricht Treaty, the "Erasmus generation" coincides with the "new class of precariat" (Standing 2011), resulting in the fact that emigration from Spain and Italy has almost doubled from 2009 to 2013 (Raffini 2014: 153). The tendency has been described as "brain circulation" (2014: 156), differing from the "brain drain" because of its horizontal and transitory connotation. This labor model envisaged by the European integration is therefore also considered as the main background against which my observation takes place and the dynamics discussed are inserted into.

While several studies focus on the impact of the narrower Erasmus (university exchange) program on participants, surprisingly no author focuses on the lines of Erasmus+ Youth's funding (which encompasses the university Erasmus and several other types of intercultural exchanges, internships and volunteering projects). Olsen and McCormick emphasize the role of such programs in shaping the "Erasmus generation", composed by young people with a stronger sense of common identity based on support for "democracy, environmental concerns, and the use of more soft power than hard power in foreign policy" (2017:272).

In addition, Kristine Mitchell (2012) indicates that the Lisbon Strategy (2000) has included the objective that all Europeans should speak two languages in addition to their native language. In

her research, based on a survey of more than 2000 respondents from 25 EU countries, Mitchell highlights that the highest degree of social interaction during Erasmus sojourns is concentrated among international students, rather than between foreign students with locals. The author concludes that this mechanism of cross-border interaction can foster the formation of a transnational identity; however, the limited reach of the programs so far and the possible biases in the selection of already European-minded participants might have reduced its impact. A further indication of the construction of an international community provided by the Erasmus Program comes from the analysis of the long-lasting transnational network of friendships built by Erasmus students during their study sojourns (De Federico 2008). On the other hand, quite interestingly, the empirical findings of a natural experiment conducted with 571 American students abroad do not prove the hypotheses whether cross-border contacts promotes a sense of shared international community (Jones 2014).

The context of analysis is therefore varied. Previous studies tackled specific aspects of transnational mobility and phenomena with either macro-historical or socio-psychological perspectives. My contribution aims instead to look at a particular point of view of a Program that has not been explored at all in the existing literature with an ethnographic approach. Finally, the Erasmus+: Youth in Action Program lies at the intersection between many relevant topics for the investigation of the European supranational construction.

Methodology and Data Collection

In the context of my research, I focus on the "Youth" chapter of the Program (also: "Erasmus+: Youth in Action"). The other sections included in the Erasmus+ Program are "Education and Training", "Jean Monnet Activities" and "Sport". The "Youth" chapter is specifically aimed at international mobility and non-formal education projects for young people, thus representing an exciting European counterpart of the national school education systems, at the bases of national civic education.

Within the Youth actions, the projects here considered refer to the 'Key Action 1', and particularly to the items "Mobility project for young people and youth workers" (European Commission, Erasmus+ Guide 2018, 75), which fall into two different types:

- Youth Exchanges and Youth Workers activities:
- Erasmus+ Volunteering activities.

"Youth Exchanges" are rather short-term projects, subdivided into:

- Youth Exchange (YE): which allows groups of young people (minimum 16 and maximum 60), aged 13 to 30 (plus facilitators with no age limit), from at least two different countries to meet and live together for a minimum of 5 to a maximum of 21 days;
- Advance Planning Visit (APV): preparatory visit (maximum 2 days) involving 1 or maximum 2
 participants (group leader + participant).

"Youth Workers activities" comprehend different types of mobilities for youth workers involved in the Program (up to 50 participants), for a duration of minimum 2 days to maximum 2 months (excluding travel time). It is important to note here that the definition of 'worker' is not strictly stated. To participate as a youth worker, it is commonly necessary to simply have an association of reference, in regard of which one can be formally a worker, a volunteer, an associate or just a supporter. Youth workers activities can follow into several actions: training courses (TCs), seminars, contact-making events, partnership-building activities, study visits, job shadowing periods, etc. All these activities are arranged by the organizations participating in the project. It is necessary to have participants who are residents in the country hosting the activities.

The guiding principle is constituted by the non-formal education methodology, in order to enhance the involvement of young people and connect them through peer to peer exchanges. The focus on inclusion is particularly stressed by the preference for participants with 'fewer opportunities' (which can be of many different types: social, physical, psychological, cultural, economic, geographic, educational, etc.). The projects follow thematic issues in order to explore certain topics (i.e. healthy lifestyle, intercultural dialogue, social entrepreneurship, inclusion and active citizenship,

etc.) as a base for discussing in a context of diversity. Usually two (or more) facilitators guide the activities following a rather structured program. Facilitators can be youth workers from the organizations participating in the project (usually the hosting one), or externals too.

"Erasmus+ Volunteering activities" refer to full-time volunteering activities for people aged 17 to 30 years old to be deployed in another country within or outside the European Union. In the context of Erasmus+ Youth, they correspond to the "European Voluntary Service" (EVS) projects. However, the new platform of "European Solidarity Corps" has been set up to include and expand EVS projects, collecting all volunteering or solidarity activities in challenging situations under one single database where participants need to register themselves. They are divided into:

- Individual volunteering activities: short-term (specifically for people with fewer opportunities): from 2 weeks up to 2 months; and long-term: from 2 months up to 12 months. It is possible to take part only once in this type of project (with the only exception of attending first a short-term and subsequently a long-term EVS for a total of maximum 12 months), while there is no limit in terms of times of participation in Youth Exchanges and Youth Workers activities. EVS also entails an on-arrival training for services lasting 2 months and longer, and a mid-term evaluation for services lasting more than 6 months.
- Group volunteering activities: carried out by groups of at least 10 young people and a maximum of 40, for a period between 2 weeks and 2 months. These are usually referred to as "Large-scale EVS projects", mobilizing groups of volunteers for specific topics or events (i.e. a festival, an earthquake reconstruction camp).

In both cases, complementary activities to strengthen the impact of the project (i.e. a conference, a local event) can be included as well. Volunteering projects function through the cooperation between a volunteer, a sending organization (from the country where the volunteer is resident, no matter the citizenship), a hosting organization (where the volunteer will work and be assigned to a local mentor and coordinator) and a coordinating organization (which applies for the project's grant, and it usually coincides with the hosting organization).

I will consider two perspectives of analysis to investigate the aims and the features of the Program. In particular, through the lens of nationalism studies, I will look at how the imagination of such a supranational community trickles down from the top to the bottom. Simultaneously, I wish to investigate how different meanings of 'being European' are shaped and retained, both instrumentally and symbolically, from a bottom-up perspective through the implementation of the Erasmus+ Youth Program.

For the first part, I will consider the critical discourse analysis of the official material from the European Commission (particularly the dedicated EACEA – Education, Audiovisual and Culture Executive Agency) and its National Agencies. The Erasmus+ Guide (2018) will be regarded as main source of information for the analysis, together with official Communications from the EC concerning the most recent development of the Program. In particular, the launch of the new European Solidarity Corps initiative, gathering all European volunteering and community-work projects within one webpage under one portal, will be regarded as a complementary source. I track the official language and strategies to instill the sense of belonging to a community from the perspective of their promoters, in order to delineate the vision of the European project from above. Moreover, I complement the official presentation of the Program with the background information provided by the analysis of one interview conducted via skype with a representative (Italian, based in France) of one important Agency responsible for the Euro-Mediterranean Youth cooperation for the Erasmus+ Program. The representative has also been chosen among my personal contacts, particularly for her involvement in youth work both at national and international level, and her active contribution in designing, evaluating and communicating with beneficiaries in the Southern European and Mediterranean regions.

For the second part, I concentrate my analysis to the Italian context, where I have been myself involved as participant and youth worker in Erasmus+ Youth projects for about four years, contributing to the participation, coordination and implementation of more than thirty short and long-term projects in four different continents. Therefore, I adopt the perspective of insider ethnography

(which will be further discussed in section "Methodological Notes" of Chapter 4), emerged especially with the Chicago School of sociologists and the ethnography of contemporary societies (O'Reilly 2009, 3). Described among others by Lawrence Hennigh (1981), this perspective allows the ethnographer to use her or himself as key informant. Combined with the multi-sited ethnography proposed by George Marcus (1995), which I have already applied elsewhere (Pozzoni 2018), I therefore profit from a privileged point of view to explore transnational processes which occurred over different times and spaces. Besides, I conducted three group discussions with former participants and youth workers from RIVE (Rete Italiana Volontariato Europeo), a network of active organizations in the European Voluntary Service program. I focus on the leading member of the network, Associazione di promozione sociale Joint (based in Milan) and its twin P.E.Co. - Progetti Europei di Cooperazione (based in Genoa). The eleven respondents, all Italians, were questioned in three small groups concerning the personal stories of their participation to the Program, the extent of the impact on their personal development in relation with their national and European identity, the hybridity of their roles, the values and goals of the Program, the meanings of the projects undertaken or proposed through non-formal education experiences, the communication with the 'upper' officials, and the issues faced when connecting local projects with their international dimension based on European mobility.

The Italian context is perhaps the most relevant in this field, as Italy registered the highest number of volunteers sent through the European Voluntary Service Program in 2016 (European Youth Forum 2017). The research therefore contributes to shed some light on a European Program which has never been approached from an anthropological perspective, observing the dynamics and the contradictions in the development of a European identity in the making which aims to contrast neo-nationalist stances across the EU. The focus on the Italian context, and more generally on the Southern European one, is a privileged point of view to observe some of the most relevant dynamics that will be discussed in the next two chapters (e.g., unemployment, non-formal education). The time limitations of my fieldwork did not allow for a broader multi-sited ethnography in other countries.

However, I profited from my personal involvement to complement the information with data derived from other transnational situations (e.g. the intercultural evening, that will be discussed in the section "Interculturality" of Chapter 4) that refer more specifically to the European character of the Erasmus+: Youth in Action Program.

Table of Informants

Expert – Skype	age	gender	role	date
Personal Conversation	/	female	Senior Project Manager, Trainer, Assessor of Youth Policy Projects, French Ministry of Youth and Sport	2/5/2018
Group 1 - Milan	age	gender	role	date
F1.1	27	female	Ex-worker and participant (EVS, YEs, TCs)	18/4/2018
F2.1	29	female	Ex-participant (EVS, 1 YE)	18/4/2018
F3.1	30	female	Ex-worker and participant (YEs, TC, Leonardo da Vinci Program)	18/4/2018
Group 2 - Milan	age	gender	role	date
F1.2	27	female	Youth worker and participant (Youth exchanges and training courses)	19/4/2018
F2.2	28	female	Youth worker and participant (Coordination of EVS hosting)	19/4/2018
M1.2	34	male	Youth worker (President, trainer)	19/4/2018
M2.2	35	male	Youth worker (Coordination and implementation of youth exchanges and EVS)	19/4/2018
M3.2	38	male	Youth worker (Vice-president and founder)	19/4/2018
Group 3 - Genoa	age	gender	role	date
F1.3	31	female	Youth worker (General Coordinator, EVS)	24/4/2018
F2.3	32	female	Youth worker (Coordination and implementation of youth exchanges and trainings)	24/4/2018
F3.3	48	female	Consultant and facilitator (Yes and TCs)	24/4/2018

Chapter 3 - European Construction through the Erasmus+ Program from Above

Methodological Notes

This section analyzes official documents and communications related to the Erasmus+ Youth Program complemented with background information provided through one skype interview with an expert in the field. The investigation of these texts aims at framing and dissecting the official perspective on the Erasmus+ Youth Program. This perspective is directly linked with the representation of a common European agenda, and also contains specific directives and directions that shed some light in understanding how this supranational sense of belonging is shaped from above.

In this context, the discourse-historical analysis (Reisigl & Wodak 2005) aims at tracking the language in policy papers and official documents that imply and foster the construction of super-ordinate categories of speech such as 'Europe' and the 'EU' (Carta & Wodak 2015). This methodology allows for a qualitative analysis of the discourses, as means of evocating and thus creating a reality with a certain narration, since the Program was established. Moreover, the critical approach supports the deconstruction of power relations by showing the inner contradictions within discourses and between discourses and empirical data.

The main document taken into account to explore the features of such a construction through the Erasmus+ Program is the Program Guide (2018). The Erasmus+ Program Guide is meant to be a tool for anyone who would like to look for information about the Program and its rules of implementation (participants, organizations, trainers, young and adults, etc.) and therefore it reflects the official statement of the European Commission. The Program Guide is divided into three parts: the first one in particular states the objectives, priorities and main features of the Program; the second one contains the Actions supported and the third part gives financial and administrative details on the

grant application and selection of the projects. The Guide is linked to several policy initiatives, represented in the Communications from the European Commission, which ultimately signal the political vision of the future of the European Union. The other documents analyzed are therefore constituted by all the official Communications directly related with the establishment and the development of the Program. The interviewee has been involved in the activities of one of the main Agencies for the Euro-Mediterranean Cooperation since 2003 and has worked in its team since 2008. The Agency closely cooperates with the French National Agency for the Erasmus+ Program, where it has its legal base in Paris, and provides for the training and monitoring of the Erasmus+ projects involving partner countries from the Southern Mediterranean Region.

Analysis: Employability & Commodification

The Communication from the European Commission of 29 June 2011 entitled "A Budget for Europe 2020" established a single program in the field of education, training, youth and sport, relying on the previous 'Youth in Action' Program for the Youth chapter. Part A of the Erasmus+ Program Guide explains the outcome of the initiative, indicating the priorities and the goals of the Program:

Erasmus+ is the EU Program in the fields of education, training, youth and sport for the period 2014-2020. Education, training, youth and sport can make a major contribution to help tackle socio-economic changes, the key challenges that Europe will be facing until the end of the decade and to support the implementation of the European policy agenda for growth, jobs, equity and social inclusion.

Fighting high levels of unemployment - particularly among young people - is one of the most urgent tasks for European governments. Too many young people leave school prematurely running a high risk of being unemployed and socially marginalized. The same risk threatens many adults with low skills. Technologies are changing the way in which society operates, and there is a need to ensure the best use is made of them. EU businesses need to become more competitive through talent and innovation. – Erasmus+ Program Guide 2018, 5

The main keywords presented are thus related to the socio-economic situation and set 'unemployment' as the main issue to be tackled according to the 2014-2020 agenda of the Program. In particular, unemployment is introduced as the main enemy that a united Europe will have to fight to ensure its future survival. This is conveyed by several linguistic devices. The use of the metaphor

of "challenges" (instead, for example, of 'problems' or 'difficulties') shifts the meaning to a context of positive competition with a sportive connotation, which is later reinforced by the adjective "competitive". The hardness of the situation is then highlighted by the use of *topoi* of threat: school dropout is presented as a "high risk" that "threatens" social unity through socio-economic marginalization of young people and the same goes for "low skills" of adults in terms of modern technological abilities.

In opposition to this threat, "Europe" is presented as a cohesive unity that will reverse the situation, linguistically relating to the *topos* of savior and 'victim-perpetrator reversal'. The "European" character is underscored several times ("European policy agenda", "European governments", "EU business") in order to represent and foster an imagined and consistent community.

Finally, the discourse entails a temporal dynamic with a rather apocalyptic tone, often linked to socio-economic dangers ("the key challenges that Europe will be facing until the end of the decade"; "urgent tasks", "prematurely running a high risk of being unemployed"), contrasting in a binary opposition with the possibility of a prosperous future. Interestingly, a similar reflection has been proposed by Mark Abèles in his fieldworks at the European Parliament (1992) and Commission (1993). According to the author, EU officials "act more in the name of a projected identity than as representatives of an actual entity" (2009, 32), whereas a temporality of future, in constant evolution, represents the horizon that shapes the collective Europe-in-the-making. This reflection also constitutes a particularity of the EU for the field of nationalism studies, where the rhetoric of national representation is usually anchored to the traditions of the past, either real or "invented" (Hobsbawm 1983). Moreover, the future temporality is here linked to the realm of technological advancement and business model of "talent and innovation" for "growth, jobs, equity and social inclusion". The validity of this reflection over twenty-five years after Abèles' fieldworks could also make us speak of a precise rhetorical strategy of a 'community imagined in the future', rather than a transition phase after the early establishment of the EU institutions still looking for their foundational values.

Following these quotes, it is not by chance that the Communication from the Commission from December 2016, launching "ErasmusPro" (a policy initiative "increasing long-term mobility abroad, for Vocational Education and Training learners, including apprentices or recent graduates", Erasmus+ Guide 2018, 49), is entitled "*Investing* in Europe's Youth" (emphasis added). The Communication calls for "an urgent need to invest in Europe's youth" (2016, 2), improving basic skills of young people for the priority of fighting youth unemployment, in a context where:

[M]any young people do not look with confidence at their future. 57% of the young generation feel that young people are excluded from economic, social and democratic life. At the same time young people are eager to engage and participate in society. The situation and prospects of young people are not compatible with Europe's social market economy and the Commission's priority to boost jobs, growth and investment. – European Commission 7 December 2016, 3.

The definition of Europe in socio-economic terms and the priority of fighting youth unemployment is also stressed by two quotes from President Jean-Claude Juncker reported at the beginning of the Communication, where the European Union is depicted as a parenting and inclusive consortium, almost transcending nation-states:

A 29th state is currently emerging within the borders of the European Union. It is the state where people without jobs live. A state in which young people became unemployed; a state in which we see people excluded, set back and left by the wayside. I would like this 29th Member State to become a normal Member State again. – Jean-Claude Juncker, *Opening Statement in the European Parliament Plenary Session*, 15 July 2014 (in European Commission 7 December 2016, 2)

As much as we invest in improving conditions abroad, we also need to invest in responding to humanitarian crises back home. And, more than anything, we need to invest in our young people. I cannot and will not accept that Europe is and remains the continent of youth unemployment. I cannot and will not accept that the millennials, Generation Y, might be the first generation in 70 years to be poorer than their parents. Of course, this is mainly a task of national governments. But the European Union can support their efforts. — Jean-Claude Juncker, *State of the Union Address*, 14 September 2016 (in European Commission 7 December 2016, 2)

According to my interviewee, the emphasis of the Program on entrepreneurship and developing competences to access the labor market is especially connected with the 2008 economic crisis, while today the topic of social inclusion is re-emerging as the central impetus, even though still with a look to employability. Furthermore, this seems to be not simply the direction taken by the

Commission, but also based on the results of feedbacks and consultations from participants and organizations implementing the Program. This logic proceeds even further than the possibilities offered by the Program and appears to be overarching with regard to the second set of main goals, those related with interculturality and civic education.

Civic Participation and Extra-EU Borders

Indeed, the following paragraphs of the Program Guide insist on the role of Erasmus+ in shaping the civic participation of young generations to foster a "sense of belonging to a community" that is based on values of inclusion and diversity:

Europe needs more cohesive and inclusive societies which allow citizens to play an active role in democratic life. Education, training, youth work and sport are key to promote common European values, foster social integration, enhance intercultural understanding and a sense of belonging to a community, and to prevent violent radicalization. Erasmus+ is an effective instrument to promote the inclusion of people with disadvantaged backgrounds, including newly arrived migrants. – Erasmus+ Program Guide 2018, 5

In this sense, non-defined "common European values" are supported by socially inclusive initiatives grounded on education, training and youth work. Intercultural understanding and active participation are therefore presented as the other pillars proposed by the Program; offering a "democratic" stand against "radicalization" and against exclusion of people from disadvantaged backgrounds. All these components seem to indicate the theorization of a 'civic supranationalism' from the European Commission, where the participation to European society is based on active citizenship and the voluntary choice as a "daily plebiscite" to use Renan's metaphor (1882). However, Brubaker warns against the normative and analytic division between a good (civic) and bad (ethnic) types of nationalism. This "Manichean" view can be dismantled critically when considering the ambivalence of both conceptions of 'civic' and 'ethnic'. If interpreted narrowly, 'ethnicity' only refers to common descent, leaving all the cultural aspects to the civic sphere; if interpreted broadly, 'ethnic' can rather indicate 'ethnocultural' nationalism, thus investing the civic components (Brubaker 1999).

Indeed, this ambiguity is reflected in the context of the European supranational sense of belonging propelled by the Erasmus+ Program on several levels. It appears even more clearly in its contrasts. For example, as my interviewee also mentioned, 'radicalization' is a topic on which several National Agencies have worked a lot, but it is a complex issue, looked at with interest but also suspicion. For example, as she stated: "when you work on prevention of radicalization it becomes a hot topic", that cannot simply fit into the 'civic' or 'ethnic' categories. "It is interesting, but from a political point of view in France municipalities have the mandate for police prevention too" (Personal Conversation, 2/5/2018).

The same goes for the topic of migration: the annual priorities of the Erasmus+ Program, addressing a specific topic of interest towards which the projects' applications are welcome to be directed, has been dedicated to either migrants or refugees in various National Agencies of the Program in the last few years. In the current transition phase to the European Solidarity Corps platform, the proposal for the renewal of the Program, whose voting has been postponed to the 30th of May 2018 (Personal Conversation, 2/5/2018), currently excludes the extra-EU Regions ('Partner Countries' of the Erasmus+ Program) from the legal framework of the new plan. In practice, countries from North-Africa and the Middle East, Caucasus, Balkans and Eastern Europe, which are currently able to be involved as partners in European Voluntary Service projects but cannot directly receive funds, will be entirely pushed out of the scheme of participation. According to my interviewee, there is a very curious situation in which Finland and Norway are currently advocating for the participation of these Regions in the new scheme, while countries that should be much more involved (such as Italy, France in the Southern-Mediterranean region for example) tend to follow their national political agendas (Personal Conversation, 2/5/2018). The conflictual relation between Europeanization and a backlash of re-nationalization is thus reproduced in this field.

Along this line, it is also interesting to hear that, according to the interviewee, national priorities and political interests are clearly taking over what should be the idea of a 'European' Program in the daily activities of the National Agencies for Erasmus+. In other words, there is a

paradoxical implementation of the Program which reflects the findings of Shore and Abèles on the complex internal functioning of the European institutions, especially slowed down by the need for official translations of every document. On one side, the standardized international format demonstrates limitations of both cultural and practical comprehension when, for example, a Moroccan partner organization is asked to provide bank details according to the French system. On the other side, the safeguard of French language is an emerging priority that clashes with the implementation of international youth projects (Personal Conversation, 2/5/2018). The topic of the language in particular seems to be central in the development of a common English-speaking Europe through the Erasmus+ Program. It is thus indicative that even in this subject, within a Program that promotes international mobility by definition, we experience a return to the use of national languages and the narrowing of borders of participation.

Interculturality, Non-Formal Education and Multiculturalism

The fear for the emergence of neo-nationalist movements across all Europe (and especially coming from Eastern Europe, see Wodak & Boukala 2015; Brubaker 2017; Mikenberg 2017) seems to suggest a backlash of the idea of the Eastern Enlargement strategy and a reformulation from above of a smaller but more cohesive and ambitious EU (POLITICO 2018). This process is reflected in the new developments of the Erasmus+ Program, concerning the establishment of the platform of the European Solidarity Corps. The latter has been introduced in the Communication "Strengthening European Identity through Education and Culture", which mentions the rise of neo-nationalist forces and the dangers of globalized information technology, calling for the discussion on "the future role of education and culture in strengthening the sense of belonging together and being part of a cultural community" (2017, 2):

The reflection about the future of our Union also entails a reflection on the strength of our common identity. When our European values and democracies are tested by awakening populist forces at home and abroad or by the spreading of "fake news" and the manipulation of our information networks, it is the moment when European Leaders and the EU

institutions must react. They decided in Rome in March 2017 to keep the EU as a unique project where, following the motto of "unity in diversity", the EU and its Member States have been able to draw on the unique strengths and richness of their nations to achieve unprecedented progress. Sixty years after the signing of the Treaties of Rome, strengthening our European identity remains essential and education and culture are the best vectors to ensure this. – European Commission, 14 November 2017, 2.

In this regards, the foundational values that are put in place as positive features of the European constitution are those celebrating the experience of European identity in all its diversity. In the words of my interviewee, the added value of the Erasmus+ Program is the opportunity of experiencing "real intercultural processes", opening their minds to different cultural perspectives and to the understanding of a wider perspective:

If well implemented, these international activities allow for young participants and youth workers to open new scenarios that destabilize them, and this is really important, but also open scenarios that they could not have otherwise. For example, I am really attached to European Voluntary Service projects and longer experiences. This does not mean that volunteers become professionals in what they are doing, but in many cases they come back with a different motivation. They put themselves in a different perspective, they see the world differently. And what you achieve is more responsible citizens. When we speak about neo-nationalisms, I think there is a very low awareness on what is European identity in practice, meaning the real encounter with people – Personal Conversation, 2/5/2018

This definition well resonates with Kymlicka's aforementioned discussion on multiculturalism and interculturalism, including its contradictions (especially 'local interculturalism versus cosmopolitan interculturalism' and 'interculturalism versus tokenism'). In fact, the architecture of the Program aims at offering a lifestyle of cosmopolitan interculturalism within a multicultural system to its beneficiaries: that is, EU participants have the possibility to picture themselves as citizens of the world, travelling freely from one country to another and meeting people from different cultural backgrounds. In long-term projects, such as the European Voluntary Service, the interaction on a local level in the context of volunteering service is also enhanced, even though class fragmentations may appear. On the other side, in short term projects such as youth exchanges and training courses, the vision of the different cultures intermingling is often reduced to stereotypical vignettes. These latter aspects will be discussed further in the implementation of the Program from below. From the top-down perspective, it is interesting to mention the emphasis on the connection

between local interculturalism and international mobility. For example, my interviewee mentioned the project "Europe Goes Local. Supporting Youth Work at Municipal Level", a network of National Agencies for the Erasmus+ Program coordinated by the Austrian National Agency.

The tension between local and global informs the Program and the development of this European multicultural ethos in several ways. The possibility for local impact is directly proportioned to the length of the project: during long-term projects such as European Voluntary Service, few volunteers work and live in close contacts with locals, while belonging to a private international context at the same time (i.e. they share the same apartment, they speak in English to the coordinator of the volunteering activities, etc.). To the contrary, short-term projects such as youth exchanges and training courses bring together wide international groups in local places, usually isolated from big communities, and usually plan to have a local impact though a final event of the project open to the public. In the latter case the presence of non-formal education, which is another pillar of the Erasmus+: Youth in Action Program, is much more enhanced, as participants and youth workers experience non-formal education activities for several hours every day. According to the Program Guide, non-formal education is strictly connected with active (European) citizenship and the participation in democratic life, as well as the purpose to develop soft skills:

Another challenge relates to the development of social capital among young people, the empowerment of young people and their ability to participate actively in society, in line with the provisions of the Lisbon Treaty to "encourage the participation of young people in democratic life in Europe". This issue can also be targeted through non-formal learning activities, which aim at enhancing the skills and competences of young people as well as their active citizenship. Moreover, there is a need to provide youth organizations and youth workers with training and cooperation opportunities, to develop their professionalism and the European dimension of youth work. – Erasmus+ Program Guide 2018, 5v

In my interviewee's opinion, non-formal education is a value-related process that becomes methodological, and in order to do so it is necessary to have well-trained youth workers, not only able to perform activities but also to set learning goals and reflect on their pedagogical objectives. In the interviewee's words, this meta-reflection is very important and there is the urge to formulate clear

30

¹ Accessed May 16, 2018: https://www.europegoeslocal.eu/

objectives that could be implemented at national level first and then turned into the international one. The official approach to this issue is represented by the introduction of a European Training Strategy in the Field of Youth to support the development of quality youth work in Europe². However, the interviewee noted an overall discouragement from the insurgence of neo-nationalist movements after twenty years of implementation and, as already mentioned, from the tendency of using European Programs for national purposes in contrast with the European enthusiasm of the 1980s (Personal Conversation, 2/5/2018). This inclination could reverse the spillover agenda before mentioned (Shore & Black 1994; Shore 2001) in the theorization of the European supranationalism in the 1970s and 1980s: in the current transition "from market to polis" (Shaw 2007), the expansion of a common European market does not seem to have the same results on the social level of shared sense of belonging.

Nonetheless, the Commission seems to be in the process of continuing its efforts with the current changes that are discussed for the renewal of the Program, following the Gothenburg Social Summit of 17 November 2017³. Indeed the "EU Budget for the Future", presented on the 2nd of May 2018 in the Communication "A Modern Budget for a Union that Protects, Empowers and Defends. The Multiannual Financial Framework for 2021-2027", proposes a stronger focus on youth. According to its synthetic factsheet: "This will be achieved by doubling the size of Erasmus+ to €30 billion and the European Solidarity Corps to €1,26 billion budgets to give opportunities to more young people to study, train and volunteer abroad, and by earmarking funding for addressing youth unemployment within the European Social Fund" (European Commission, 2 May 2018, 2).

The introduction of the European Solidarity Corps platform has been anticipated since 2016 and according to my interviewee is especially related to the vision of the President of the European Commission Jean-Claude Juncker, who addressed it in the aforementioned State of the Union Address

² Accessed May 16, 2018: https://www.salto-youth.net/rc/training-and-cooperation/trainingstrategy/

³ Accessed May 16, 2018: https://ec.europa.eu/commission/publications/eu-leaders-meeting-education-culture_en

on 14 September 2014. Once again, the value of "human" and "professional" experiences are inevitably entrenched in the description of the goals of the framework. The keyword "solidarity" is stressed as the main force that can call to mobilization of young Europeans, connecting social to professional opportunities:

There are many young, socially minded people in Europe willing to make a meaningful contribution to society and help show solidarity. We can create opportunities for them to do so [...] Solidarity is the glue that keeps our Union together [...] Young people across the European Union will be able to volunteer their help where it is needed most, to respond to crisis situations [...] These young people will be able to develop their skills and get not only work but also invaluable human experience. – Jean-Claude Juncker, *State of the Union Address*, 14 September 2016 (in European Commission 7 December 2016, 2, par. I)

The reference to the personal pronoun "we" indicates specifically the vision from above by the Commission, which President Juncker puts in the condition of enabling young people to "show solidarity" and develop themselves. The metaphor of solidarity as a "glue" finally refers to strong and irreversible advancements in the constitution of "our Union together".

This evocative image is reprised in the beginning of the Communication "A European Solidarity Corps" of 7 December 2016, which also sets the goal of 100,000 young Europeans enrolling into the European Solidarity Corps by 2020. In particular, the metaphors of "fabric" and "dream" define the idealistic character of the EU project, which is based on social solidarity and mutual help of its citizens, who share "a community of values":

The European Union is built on solidarity: solidarity between its citizens, solidarity across borders between its Member States, and solidarity in its action inside and outside the Union. Solidarity is a shared value which is strongly felt throughout European society. It defines the European project which should be time and again restated and reinforced. It is part of the core fabric that makes the European dream inspire generation after generation. The European Union is about more than common rules, institutions or markets: it is a community of values.

More solidarity will keep Europe together. It provides the necessary unity to cope with current and future crises by holding a strong moral ground. It provides a clear compass to guide the European youth in their aspirations of a better Union. It is in their minds and hearts that lie the strength and wit to further advance the European project. And it is the moral duty of current leaders to prepare the ground for it.

|...

Young Europeans need greater and more easily accessible opportunities to express their solidarity. The European Solidarity Corps will connect enthusiastic and committed young people ready and willing to work on a common solidarity project. It will offer an inspiring and empowering experience for young people who want to help, learn and develop, while

gaining valuable experience. The aim is to see the first 100,000 young Europeans joining the European Solidarity Corps by 2020. – European Commission 7 December 2016, 2

The repetition of the concept of "solidarity" goes further than explaining the purposes of the new Program: it reconfigures the foundation of Europe as a "community of values", where a strong moral stand is called into the picture to "keep Europe together". Moreover, the discourse replicates the top-down perspective of the Commission where the presence of young people, who are supposedly representing the subjects of this new action, is almost commodified. In both Juncker speech and the Communication, this is achieved through a logical syllogism where the Commission acts as an agent, while young people are rather described as tokens:

x: European Union is built on solidarity

y: Young people in Europe are inspired by that solidarity and want to express it in return

z: The Commission provides the opportunity for young people to fulfill this interest.

Moreover, 'y' is reinforced by a *topos* of authority (*argumentum ad verecundiam*), confirmed by the following statistical data:

Willingness to volunteer outstrips the opportunities on offer. Only 6% of young people say that they have stayed abroad for the purpose of volunteering and of those who say that they have not done so, 88% say that they did not have the opportunity. In general, more than four in ten young Europeans say that they would like to work, study or train in another EU country⁴.

An ongoing study⁵ shows that solidarity-related sectors in the EU employed over 40 million people in 2015. By way of example, the estimated labor force in the area of social integration and social work, including the reception and integration of asylum seekers and migrants, currently stands at 170,000. The estimated labor force is greater in sectors such as education and health care. By way of indication about the potential interest, data from the EURES portal⁶ shows that around 80,000 jobseekers are looking for work abroad in solidarity-related sectors.

[...]

Surveys show that the participation in voluntary activities of young people from all sociodemographic groups could be improved. Young people who finished their education at the age of 20 or over are more likely to have participated in organized voluntary activities (26%) than those who ended education at the age of 16-19 (20%) or 15 or under (15%). In

⁴ Eurobarometer of the European Parliament "European Youth in 2014" (EP EB395)

⁵ Forthcoming report on "Labour demand in solidarity-related sectors in the EU".

⁶ Assessment based on state of play at one moment in November this year. The portal collects job vacancies and allows individuals to search for a job and create their CV online in order to be found by employers registered on the portal. Education, work experience and desired occupation can be indicated in the CV template.

2014, only slightly over a quarter of young people taking part in organized volunteering received some kind of formal recognition (e.g. a certificate or diploma). – European Commission 7 December 2016, 3

This rhetoric therefore allows for introducing the European Solidarity Corps initiative as a solution to a certain need created from above to structure a more cohesive European society.

Recognition and Solidarity

The topic of recognition, mentioned in the last part of the previous extract, is also identified by my interviewee as one of the central issues in the promotion of the Program and it is linked with the difficulty to pass the opportunities and the objectives in a top-down communication. According to the interviewee, the European Training Strategy is going in the direction of setting quality standards in order not to be exclusive, but to be more inclusive after the Program increases its recognition, which is not very significant at the moment (Personal Conversation, 2/5/2018). On the other hand, the introduction of the ESC platform goes to the detriment of better evaluated programs such as the EVS, which was evaluated as one of the most successful experience of Erasmus+ (Personal Conversation, 2/5/2018; Erasmus+ Evaluations 2018).

In general, the Mid-term Evaluation of the Erasmus+ Program (2014-2020) indicates that the performance indicators were achieved, with 1.8 million individuals who took part in mobility activities (together with the previous base between 2007 and 2016 the total amounts at 4.3 million young people and more than 880 000 practitioners) and more than 240 000 organizations involved in cooperation projects, while "the evaluation shows the program has a clear 'Europeanisation' effect' (2018, 2), and:

There is also evidence of a contribution to a more cohesive Union. The Erasmus+ program fosters positive social/civic behavior and a sense of feeling 'European' (+19% compared to non-participants). It reaches out to disadvantaged young people (11.5% of the total number of participants in Erasmus+) more than its predecessors or comparable national schemes. Yet the evaluation points to the need to do more to reach out to the more vulnerable in society and to facilitate the participation of smaller-size organizations. – European Commission 31 January 1 2018, 2

In this extract, the terminology "positive social/civic behavior" is connected with "sense of feeling European", thus conveying a direct causality between the two. Once again, statistics are used to reinforce the "evidence" of the Program's contribution to the European supranational unity, which is more successful in comparison with "national schemes". The definition of "disadvantaged young people", usually very large (from economic, to geographic, physical, social and cultural fewer opportunities) and quantifiable with a tick on the projects' evaluation forms, is not offered here. However, the concept of social inclusion is also suggested to complete the shape of this positive supranational sense of belonging.

Nevertheless, the regulation laying down the legal framework for the introduction of the European Solidarity Corps (30 May 2017) will cancel the denomination 'European Voluntary Service', which will be incorporated into the ESC scheme. The ESC online portal will provide a direct matching of volunteers with receiving organizations, thus increasing the possibility in terms of number of projects, but reducing the quality in the face-to-face management of volunteers, especially in the preparation phase before their entry in service. However, the regulation confirms the intent of promoting "European values", which are described especially in terms of "international attitude" and development of languages and competences:

With regard to the volunteering dimension, the European Solidarity Corps will build on the successful model of the European Voluntary Service which has provided a tangible contribution to the development of competences, language learning, fostering of international attitudes and promotion of European values among young people over the last twenty years. – European Commission 30 May 2017, 40

The recent focus on "solidarity" also comes from the will to put the new scheme in contact with the EU Aid Volunteers Program, started in 2018 as part of the European Civil Protection and Humanitarian Aid Operations⁷, oriented towards development cooperation and crisis response volunteering projects. The flourishing of new actions going in this direction is currently generating difficulties of communication in the high spheres too. According to my interviewee, there is slightly

⁷ Accessed May 16, 2018: https://ec.europa.eu/echo/what/humanitarian-aid/eu-aid-volunteers_en

less concertation between the European Commission and the National Agencies nowadays compared to few years ago (Personal Conversation, 2/5/2018). The exclusion of the extra-European Regions from the ESC budget, for instance, contains a clear political vision from the Commission rather than facilitating the effectiveness of the operations of the Agencies. While ESC and EU Aid are very different projects from EVS, according to my interviewee the message passing from above is that 'it's the same thing'⁸, but when it has to be communicated to beneficiaries everything becomes much more complex. An example from the interview is the regular training session of explanation that the interviewee gives to representatives of organizations. The difficulty of transmitting clear and inspiring information to beneficiaries on how to apply for funds, use the budget, etc. reflects a general incommunicability of the Program, which tries to be simplified from above but encounters paradoxes of political nature in the field (Personal Conversation, 2/5/2018). As I will show, this has a strong reflection in the implementation of the Program from below too, and it is ultimately connected with the absence of clarity concerning the definition of a univocal European sense of belonging.

Summary of Findings

The analysis of the Program Guide and related policy documents, complemented by one expert interview, has investigated the framework in which the supranational European feeling has been planned from above. The Erasmus+: Youth in Action Program is inserted in this framework in order to mobilize young people and instruct them with European values and non-formal education methodology. However, a series of ambivalences seem to be reflected in the formulation of these values, which contain both an instrumental and a symbolic meaning at the same time.

_

⁸ I have heard myself a similar formulation from the director of the Italian National Agency in the public speech for the commemoration of the 20 years of the EVS Program. Besides, a petition to "Save the EVS" (https://savetheevs.eu/) has been launched by the RIVE network in response to the open consultation of the European Commission about the proposal for regulation of the ESC framework. The possibility to cancel the role of the "sending organizations" in the new ESC platform, which would mean a lack of quality in the learning processes of volunteers and participants involved in the projects, has provoked many reactions that slowed down the final decision of the Commission, which is still in progress.

The discourse-historical analysis has shown how the rhetoric on employability has merged with a language of commodification of international experiences within the preparation, implementation and future planning of the Erasmus+: Youth in Action Program. This "investment" in Europe's youth aims at promoting positive values of intercultural understanding and active citizens' participation for a more cohesive European Union. On the other side, the development of rather impersonalized platforms, such the European Solidarity Corps, and the inputs of renationalization of the Program according to the national contexts seem to highlight a backlash in the cosmopolitan and multicultural vision of the Program.

The decreasing enthusiasm for the EU project, opposed by the rise of neo-nationalist and populist movements all across Europe, have caused a more restrictive focus resulting in a rhetoric of 'solidarity' and social inclusion, while laying down the bases for the development of soft skills and marketable competences within the EU countries space only. Finally, the perspective of anthropology of policy allows for the exploration of the inner conflicts and the paradoxical cleavages between the official presentation of the Program and its actual interpretation. The next chapter will concentrate on the perspective of those who participate and organize Erasmus+ projects, thus showing different facets and discrepancies from this official viewpoint.

Chapter 4 - European Construction through the Erasmus+ Program from Below

Methodological Notes

This section aims at exploring the bottom-up perspective on the European construction through the Erasmus+: Youth in Action Program. The Program is considered as a privileged field of observation, in which values and practices framed by the European Commission are interpreted by the beneficiaries. Many of the issues discussed in the planning and description of the Program's objectives and means from above are indeed reflected in its implementation from below by youth workers and participants. In order to explore the practical implementation of the Program in relation with its supranational European purposes, I have conducted three group discussions with beneficiaries in Milan and Genoa. I have contacted the discussants among my circle of friends and ex-colleagues. After taking part in a European Voluntary Service project myself in 2013-2014, I have worked in the coordination and implementation of Erasmus+ projects in Milan (from 2014 to 2016) and Genoa (from 2016 to 2017). Therefore, I complement the analysis of findings with my own background knowledge. This insider perspective of ethnography has several risks, including the difficulty to detach from the own knowledge and the possibility that informants tend to think that they are not interesting enough to be an object of interest themselves. On the other side, insiders are facilitated in a faster comprehension of the local reality and to create more rapport with engaged participants (O'Reilly 2012, 3-6). Finally, I have tried to reduce the bias by setting formal and recorded group discussions, while rather profiting from my own experience in this field to quickly catch connections and dynamics that could have been otherwise difficult to understand.

I utilize an inductive bottom-up coding method, deriving the process of analysis from the grounded theory. According to this "theme coding" model (Gordon 2015, 99), I will begin by analyzing raw data from the group discussions and isolate the main topics that can offer different

perspectives from the group discussants. The themes of the coding allow for the exploration of the perception of participants in European projects and other relevant topics that are connected to the Erasmus+ Program. In fact, following the interpretivist approach, I will have the possibility to discuss the meanings as socially constructed elements, (2015, 33) within an environment that can be supported by the knowledge based on self-ethnography.

I aimed at organizing three different groups of four to five participants with a gender balance. Unfortunately, due to some cancelations and the general presence of more females in the organizations examined, I arranged two groups with three (female) participants and one (mixed) group with five. The group discussions lasted between 40 minutes and 2 hours in informal environments. All the participants were familiar with the organizations in which they were involved either as beneficiaries or as workers (Associazione di promozione sociale Joint, Milan; and Progetti Europei di Cooperazione, Genoa). The headquarters of the organizations are located in the periphery of Milan and in the historical center of Genoa. They both run in shared spaces with other associations (Genoa) or in social projects from the municipality (Milan). Many structural problems are present in the management of the spaces, which have poor lighting, sometimes slow internet connection, and of the organizations themselves, which receive very limited public co-funding and are dependent on the savings gathered through previous, successful projects.

Initially, I planned to separate the analysis between participants and youth workers. I soon realized that the hybridity of those roles was too embedded to be able to differentiate the questions. The "working" character of the EVS volunteers, and the role of youth workers as "participants" during training courses, for example, indicate that the Program addresses all these beneficiaries with the same objectives. Moreover, all the youth workers have been participants in the first place, thus sharing a common Erasmus+ experience at the beginning of their reflections. In the viewpoint of researching the dynamics of an emerging European supranationalism, it appeared very difficult to separate the different stances and types of beneficiaries in the analysis.

Analysis: Youth, Employability and National Identity

Indeed, this hybridity of the roles was one of the points of debate during the group discussions, and also reflected a more general hybridity in the identities — as national sense of belonging and as attachment to the objectives of Erasmus+ as European Program — of the discussants. In particular, the debate over the terminology of "youth" program emerged in the discussions. Obviously, the "youth" component is very present, also concerning the language used for the denomination of the projects (e.g. *youth* exchanges), and it is usually linked with the characterization of being a European youth. Interestingly, the economic report for youth projects is different than with projects for adults (from other EU Programs). According to one of my discussants (F3.3, 24/4/2018), in projects with adults the stress is on reaching the objectives, while in youth projects it seems to be the simple attendance. Indeed, the Italian National Agency is currently very strict on the dates of traveling of young participants, that cannot differ from the official beginning and end of the project, while in other types of projects participants can travel before or after the project dates. This is a contradiction itself for a Program that encourages to discover intercultural diversity, and moreover it is linked with the broader discourse on employability:

- F2.3: [The Program] is based on a transfer of competences from one generation to another one, but this way seems very compartmentalized, why can't you put together a young person with a sixty years old? Maybe it is for organizational purposes, but in my view there are too many rigid categories in this way.
- F3.3: Moreover, now that I think about it, projects for adults are always for professional categories, even though unemployed people over 40 have the highest social risk, and they don't have similar opportunities to participate in experiences that could open their minds. Otherwise, the conclusion is that the idea of Europe is built on 20-30 years old youngsters.
- F1.3: Yes, and also young people who can profit from all this kind of experiences but then they have no opportunities, because they will not find a place: maybe you participated in a EVS project in a kindergarten and you acquire the competences, but once you don't have a diploma that allows you to work, you go back to your country and you are still unemployed.

In this discussion, building "the idea of Europe" and offer experiences of employability to young people naturally follow each other, in line with the official aims of the Program. However, further contradictions are highlighted. In the continuation of this discussion, "Europe" emerges as something

positive that protects participants and beneficiaries. The Erasmus+ Program has indeed strict guidelines on budget reporting and precise economic benefits for participants, who enjoy free travel and accommodation plus a pocket money in long-term projects such as EVS. At the same time, it seems to be setting higher standards than what participants will find after the end of their experiences. What the Program offers is a wider international mindset and the capacity to "open the mind" of participants towards a European perspective. This aspect has also been stressed in all the conversations:

F1.1: for me the exchanges are more meaningful when you can involve young people who are in a stage of self-development, teenagers or early teens. It's more weighty. I'm now working with teenagers between 13 and 17 years old, I can imagine that it is something that shocks them. It changes their perspective, the way of thinking... because maybe it's the first time they're alone, in a new context...they approach people and experience differently. It's difficult, it's something scary. If I think at the kids I'm working with they all tend to stay in their shell, in their comfort zone. The EU gives this kind of opportunity and transmits positive messages in this sense, but it's not so important that it's the EU, anything like this would be positive.

M2.2: Initially I participated [in Erasmus+ projects] for two reasons: first, I wanted to live in Spain and improve my Spanish. When I was sixteen I spent two weeks in Spain with a Comenius project. In that moment I observed the beauty of knowing another culture, to meet people from another culture, so I looked for any program for the easier way to make an experience abroad. Second, I was always a bad student, so I never had certificates that could state that I was good in something, while in the EVS for example there is no other requirement than motivation to apply and to evaluate your objectives. Then I actually learned much more than what I expected, one important thing that came up later for sure was the fact of being bi/tripolar (laughter): meaning that when you live in another culture then you think in another way, and you see certain things in a different way, simply you can think in more than one way. So talking Spanish and living there and feeling to be a bit Spanish I looked at things in a slightly different way. Not only languages but also way of living.

Thus, the European element in the Program seem not related to the content of the experiences, rather to their promotional aspect conveyed by the Commission. In other words, the branding of these experiences is a very powerful tool, perhaps more than the content of the experiences themselves. The request to make it as visible as possible, especially through the EU flag and the denomination "Co-funded by the Erasmus+ Program of the European Union" that must be attached to every outcome as a dissemination strategy, was also recalled by one discussant in his communication with officials (M3.2, 19/4/2018). As a result, the "mental barriers" that the Program helps to destroy are

directly connected by beneficiaries to the supranational European community, to the point of advocating for the desirability of a more cohesive Union:

M2.2: Initially you don't do that [participate in Erasmus+ projects] to feel yourself more European, but personally after having done some projects, like an EVS, youth exchanges, Leonardo in France, etc. I wrote a small article on the desirability of the "United States of Europe", not much as a European nationalism but for the opportunity to be more free, to travel, to enlarge your frontiers: if before the establishment of the EU your frontiers used to be the borders of Italy, now they are the borders of Europe. Especially after you have experienced the facility to move and get into relationships with others.

F3.3: Between Italian and European I define myself Italian first rather than European, but I have a lighter nationalist dimension, in terms of belonging to a nation, than my other colleagues [from a second job] who cannot experience the dimension of being an international worker, the Program canceled some of my mental barriers.

This also brings interesting results when discussants are questioned on their national identities. Following the discussion of the latter extract, one discussant replied that she actually feels much more Italian in the first place. She stressed how the Program made her realize that in fact the projects should be more focused on the value of every single European culture, in order to better discover the own roots and profit from the positive aspects of the local traditions, from dances to stories (F2.3, 24/4/2018). Another discussant observed that during short-term projects there are countries' representatives who are very proud of their national identity, in contrast with herself and colleagues, for whom "the local identity is a bit canceled". In her view, there should be a landmark in every project by which the "European element should be applied in some way, maybe through symbols or different representations...Actually you create the idea of Europe yourself, we are inventing it" (F3.3, 24/4/2018). The third discussant went on in underscoring that "the idea of a European identity is missing in the end" (F1.3, 24/4/2018), especially due to the lack of a common language and a common positive perception of what comes from the EU. This confusion was even reinforced by an anecdote: before and after the Brexit vote, the discussants implemented two projects with an English organization. The same participant, a nineteen year old boy, participated in both of them, and during the second time one discussant discovered that he voted pro-Brexit (F3.3, 24/4/2018); nonetheless he kept on participating in European projects.

Interculturality

On one side, the awareness of youth workers that the process of "imagination" of the supranational feeling has to be invented is clear; on the other, it seems very difficult to find what are the elements to build on a shared sense of belonging. Moreover, it is surprising that thirty years after the beginning of the Erasmus Program and twenty years of European Voluntary Service, the values are discussed as "still in the making":

M1.2: A source of motivation that one would think could be there but for example it's lacking in us it's the issue of the European identity, because honestly [...] When I did the Italian civil service, I had to take part in a training where they explained us what is conscientious objection, how the civil service started, what are the values, etc. And this is something missing in the European projects. It lacks a training, some moments in which you can discuss what is the European Commission, what is the European Union, what do European identity and citizenship want to be, what are the pros and cons, etc. And I think it's a missing element especially now, when there is a debate on the sense of all of this.

M2.2: Everybody asks you: did you work on European values? I've never seen a charter of the EU values. I think it is also because the EU is a young formation, so the EU values are still in the making. Aside from the principles that created it, it's an ongoing process.

F1.2: It is also a debate on the 'high' levels, so it's hard for us to follow some guidelines.

While the European values of the Erasmus+ project are hardly distinguishable, the effects that the Program want to convey seem more clear. Connecting the people and socialize them in an intercultural and international dimension responds to the consequence of introducing the EU citizenship and create a civic commitment that reflects the division between "mobiles and stayers" identified by Siklodi in terms of cultural capital (2015). According to one discussant, the main goal is to just put closer young people from countries that are usually not acquainted with each other. In her opinion, the possibility to share an experience, focusing on a specific topic, while living together with people from the same age and different countries is a way to break down the distance, which is described mostly as "a mental block". For example, to meet an Estonian would not be very common for her in other occasions aside from Erasmus+, in general she is not aware of similar opportunities of sharing the same context and spaces for an intensive period with people of different foreign backgrounds (F3.1, 18/4/2018). For another discussant, what is at stake in Erasmus+ projects is not strictly European values, but rather values that can be shared transversally and that could work for

any person of that age from anywhere in the world. In particular, she mentions youth exchanges and EVS as experiences that are surely linked to the culture and mentality that had ideated the Program, but transmit a universal way of being together with others, share an experience, get involved and test oneself in a new environment (F2.1, 18/4/2018).

Another aspect that came up in all the discussions, which is related to the cancelation of cultural barriers, is the stereotypical view on cultures, indeed similar to the essentialist understanding previously outlined following Ralph Grillo (2003). For example, a typical moment featured in all youth projects is the intercultural evening. The intercultural evenings consist of a presentation by the participants of the countries that they represent. It can be done through videos, dances, music, theatre, flags, clothes and the sharing of so-called traditional food and drinks from the country of origin. There is no official instruction on implementing the intercultural evening, but following the principle of learning by doing every organization passes on the decision to include it in the programs of shortterm projects. The possibility to connect one particular aspect or experience of a different culture with a specific person or event, which was already mentioned by the expert in the interview, is also remarked by participants. According to one, participating in exchanges means to become more exposed to diversity and overcome the initial diffidence towards people from foreign backgrounds. Finally, she got to know European through European participants in the exchanges ("more than Europe maybe the other European nations"), and in her words this impacted her identity (F3.1, 18/4/2017). Similarly, another discussant explains that this process is connected with the development of the personal identity: "It is also a way to identify yourself. It's often stereotypes, linked to food, personalities, etc. But in the end there is always something more behind those, conveyed from the people" (F2.1, 18/4/2018).

This also marks a distinction between short and long-term projects, whereas the latter ones are preferred as educational experiences in one group discussion in particular, because of the possibility to work on the long-term impact on the local community of Genoa. However, from the point of view of the reception of the Program from below, interculturality and the understanding of

different cultures does not appear as one of the main reasons to participate. In the words of one of my discussants:

F1.3: If you think about it, in the youth exchanges the intercultural evening is a stereotypical vignette. It is also true that it is not the main motivation for the youngsters: almost everyone is looking for "an experience", to acquire working skills, to increase their CV. Then once they are there, especially in longer projects such as EVS, they experience the intercultural shock in the first person, which they usually tend to underestimate before. However, in the short-term projects the intercultural component is much lighter, like "let's be friends, dance together, etc."

This aspect becomes salient when there are conflicts inside the groups: on one side, they are solved or prevented thanks to a supranational atmosphere of commonality, on the other, they tend to reproduce the same stereotypes that they want to combat. It is also interesting that short-term projects such as youth exchanges and training courses are usually held in isolated places within a closed and communitarian environment, where the European atmosphere is created:

F3.3: [In the youth exchanges or training courses] you usually stay in an isolated place, in a quasi-communitarian dimension, it is an international experience almost unique with this modality, you feel yourself in a European dimension. It is the dimension that you feel you are living in that moment, because anyway you live together with Finnish, French, Hungarian people...in those moments the youngsters actually feel all the same, there is not much difference, and when you hear their conversations it sounds like: "Oh, so you also do this in your country...?". In the end you understand that all the world is very similar, there is not much difference. And also the conflicts that there are, quite unlikely they are ethnoreligious conflicts, it is more something that you could find at school for example, like: "he did not pass me the ball, he woke me up at night because he was loud, etc.". The participants realize that they are really similar.

One anecdote is illustrative of the display of ethnic and religious identities inside this specific context. One discussant recalled how struck she was when Muslim participants happened to practice Ramadan during one youth exchange. As they ate at different times of the day, this represented a practical motive of exclusion because those participants were mostly active during the night. However, they used their own resources to find different ways to integrate in the group, for example cooking for everyone at night, and this gave the opportunity for everyone to experience a difference in a quite pleasant manner, whereas language barrier represented instead a more pragmatic obstacle (F3.3, 24/4/2018). On the other side, according to her colleague who participated in the same discussion, the problem is that this dynamics are misleading for participants on the actual reality of Europe,

especially in the case of participants with migrant background: "Maybe they will agree with these dynamics and believe that Europe is cool, but it is the same Europe that lets people die in the Mediterranean sea" (F1.3, 24/4/2018). In fact, this contradiction was reproduced in another anecdote, when participants visited a market managed by people with refugee status, and one group leader carried her bag in front of her as she was afraid of the possibility to get robbed, even though the whole project was carried out to promote the inclusion of migrants (F3.3, 24/4/2018). The cosmopolitan attitude that the Program conveys thus seems to have some inner contradictions, which are rather solved thanks to the commodification and branding of those experiences.

Social Inclusion

According to the discussants, social inclusion is one of the aspects of the Program which receives the most emphasis. In the perspective of nationalism studies, social inclusion through European sponsored projects also imply a redefinition of the in-group identification from a national to a supranational frame. Indeed, the philosophy of Erasmus+ projects for young people is to provide close and intensive contacts between people from different backgrounds in a peer-to-peer scenario, in order to decrease cultural and linguistic barriers and foster intergroup cooperation.

However, in the definition of this supranational category of in-group identification, geopolitical interests, culture and identity are also tied together creating a confusion because of gaps between the European branding on the Program and its practical implementation. For example, the involvement in the Program of countries which are not in the EU, such as Turkey, Russia and Ukraine, was hard to understand for one discussant: "These countries are different from the European identity, and the youngsters who participate often find themselves confused to do an experience with people who are not from similar countries to the ones inside the EU". Therefore, she claims that more effort is needed to think of people as individuals and not as countries' representatives, because the Program did not consider this issue (F2.2, 19/4/2018).

At the same time, class stratifications and cultural capital seem very connected to the reception of information concerning the Program. Indeed, the Program has never been very well known, and the founder of the organization recalled how most of the job at the beginning implied working on the simple promotion of its opportunities (M3.2, 19/4/2018). This is often connected to the fact that the Program covers travel, food and accommodation, which is usually regarded with the fear of being a scam by potential participants, combined with the general confusion about the line of financing of the European Commission (M2.2, 19/4/2018; F2.3 24/4/2018). In order to explain the dynamics to potential participants, it is often necessary to strongly simplify what are the contents of a youth exchange for example: "We tell it like a joke: there are five Italians, five Germans, five French, etc." (F1.3, 24/4/2018). The necessity to extremely simplify the communication is also connected to the low recognition of non-formal education methods, especially in the Italian context, and the difficulty of explaining it to externals. Non-formal education is described as an innovative concept and methodology, far from the mainstream schemes (M1.2, 19/4/2018). In two cases in the discussions, the example of learning through practice in non-formal settings was described as something that facilitated the process of self-development, e.g. in the case of language learning:

M2.2: Until last year of high school – beginning of university I was convinced of not being able to learn languages (and everybody confirmed me this: friends, professors....), but then when I started approaching Spanish and doing exchanges and knowing other cultures I don't think I am so bad. The same with Portuguese: I can speak and travel and deal with that without having studied it at all. And I think that's important, it's something not valued at school in a formal environment, while it counts a lot in an informal environment.

Non-Formal Education and EU Citizenship

Once more, the methodology conveyed by the Program aims at merging interculturality with employability through non-formal education techniques, based on peer-to-peer exchanges and learning by doing processes. The beneficiaries stressed both the benefits of this method, which allows for an attentive and personalized self-development, often described as more entrepreneurial, and its aspects of innovation, which are not recognized and considered valuable in formal education contexts.

The Youthpass certificate is the main tool for recognition and certification of Erasmus+: Youth in Action projects, established in 2007. It is based on a self-assessment model and comprehends eight key competences⁹. The purposes and the development of the Youthpass certificate is mostly based on the process of reflection on learning and self-evaluation. However, the European flag is present in the header of all the pages of the certificate. The Youthpass is also central in the recognition of these experiences at European level, as it is slowly starting to be accepted as a certification for small traineeships or course credits required by formal education systems.

The possibility of profiting from the European citizenship and travel to other countries, not as simple tourists but "to live with local people from other countries and take part in their vision of the reality" (F1.2, 19/4/2018), is also highly evaluated by the discussants. Indeed, even if the rules of the Program require residency, and not nationality, as a criterion to participate, holding a EU citizenship simplifies and increases the possibilities to profit from the international experience thanks to the freedom of movement and the option to remain and work abroad. According to a discussant, interculturality is what encompasses all the different topics treated by Erasmus+ projects (F1.2, 19/4/2018), while being combined with the freedom of travel. The latter becomes visible especially in the case when there are projects that involve countries neighboring the EU, with participants "who really experience much difficulties in mobility and you note that difference, like they have less chances, less rights, they are penalized" (M2.2, 19/4/2017).

The aspects of innovation and entrepreneurialism are also suggested by the language of commodification of the experiences that is used by the discussants to describe the Erasmus+ projects

_

 $Available\ at: \underline{https://www.youthpass.eu/da/help/for/youth-initiatives/learn/information/},\ Accessed\ on\ May\ 22,\ 2018$

⁹ The eight Youthpass competences are the following:

¹⁾ Communication in the mother tongue

²⁾ Communication in foreign languages

³⁾ Mathematical competence and basic competences in science and technology

⁴⁾ Digital competence

⁵⁾ Learning to learn

⁶⁾ Social and civic competences

⁷⁾ Sense of initiative and entrepreneurship and

⁸⁾ Cultural awareness and expression

outcomes, including terms such as "soft skills", "impact", "visibility", "network", "indicators", "labor market-oriented". The marketable logic is then transmitted and influence the beneficiaries' expectations, whereas the suggested connection by this kind of vocabulary is the link between self-development and enhancing competences. According to one participant, this relation changed over time, as the emphasis on employability raised with the economic crisis and the high unemployment rate in Southern Europe:

- F2.2: What I see is also that the profile of participants changed over time: today it's more who want to acquire competences rather than making an effort on their self-development (to learn different cultures, the respect of the others, etc.). So people come, take what they want and then they go, there's no process on themselves...it's not our or anybody's fault, but the Program is lacking the work and follow-up on personal process in these projects.
- F2.3: On the formal aspects of the Program, the main keyword a part from "social inclusion" is "European citizenship", the development of this transnational conception.
- F3.3: The main push for many youngsters anyway is the idea of making a trip, almost close to a holiday, which is not a nice word in this context, which then turns into something more, this is the "Plus" of the Program, together with the international dimension itself.
- F2.3: It is always about making "an experience": a "unique experience", a "life experience".

The accessibility of these experiences do not only come from the possession of EU citizenship, but class cleavages also influence the promotion and availability of Erasmus+ projects to the public. As in the words of one discussant (F2.3, 24/4/2018), for some youngsters that the association closely work with from the periphery of Genoa, in cooperation with another organization that provides support for their integration, taking part in such experiences it is really a life-changing event. However, the majority of participants usually find the opportunities on the internet and without an adequate preparation. Therefore, participants with better social and cultural capital are facilitated in the research, while also being the ones who are already more acquainted with an European environment and less in need of international experiences.

Moreover, the new tool in development with the European Solidarity Corps, in the words of some of my discussants, does not consider at all the problematics of participants with fewer opportunities. Indeed, the initial stage of the portal has already been implemented, and participants are required to register to the ESC database in order to be accepted for the projects. The portal is so

hard to use that is almost inaccessible even for practitioners, and this signals a distance between the official levels and the implementation of the Program from below:

F2.3: From my point of view as youth worker, there is no connection between the higher and the lower level, which often happens in all these kind of programs...but in this case maybe it's really lacking trust from above!

F1.3: What is happening with Erasmus+ is similar to the Justice¹⁰ and the Rights, Equality and Citizenship¹¹ Programs: the European Commission opens calls for the integration of migrants while closing and patrolling the borders at the same time. In Erasmus+, with the creation of the ESC portal instead of the EVS calls, you have a portal that is almost not accessible to participants with fewer opportunities, they could not even find it on the internet. Even for us as workers, I am ashamed of telling the volunteers to go and look for the portal online.

There is a distance between who is contributing to the ideation of these programs and who actually benefit from them; those bureaucrats have no idea of what are the actual difficulties of people with fewer opportunities, not even of everyday participants. When you call them and say "the Turkish group cannot come", for example, they are surprised and ask you why. They don't even imagine that they have visa obstacles most of the time.

Another conversation also stressed the top-down model of communication from the European Commission and National Agency, where beneficiaries are "not really consulted" (M1.2, 19/4/2018). On the other side, the positive character of having a low level of institutionalization and formality in this top-down approach was equally highlighted.

Summary of Findings

The development of young Europeans in the making follows similar criteria than those modelling a market-oriented flexibility between the different countries of the European Union. The group discussions have outlined a general hybridity in the roles of the beneficiaries, who are often practitioners, youth workers and participants at the same time. The strong European branding and promotion of the Program's opportunities point at offering marketable experiences on one side, while instilling an international dimension and aiming at breaking cultural barriers. However, several contradictions emerged in the implementation of this double soul of the Program. The overlapping of

 $^{^{10}\,\}underline{\text{http://ec.europa.eu/justice/grants1/programmes-2014-2020/justice/index_en.htm}}\,,\,Accessed\,May\,22,\,2018$

¹¹ http://ec.europa.eu/justice/grants1/programmes-2014-2020/rec/index_en.htm, Accessed May 22, 2018

national and supranational sense of belonging, caused by a quite superficial and essentialist usage of national cultures, and the innovation allowed by the non-formal education methodology, also have counterparts according to the local contexts and the profile of participants. Class segmentations and the redefinition of (internal and external) European borders through the focus on social inclusion are also components that influence the conceptualization of the Europeans-in-the-making.

The analysis of the group discussions has thus highlighted the practical implications of the European supranational construction through the Erasmus+ Program. The Program aims to connect youth mobility, international experiences, employability and interculturality by the means of a European branding. The bottom-up reception reveals several contradictions in the way this aims are interpreted from below. Moreover, the ethnographic insider perspective on the inquiry has allowed to deconstruct the elements of Europeanization and show their ambivalence at several levels. Eventually, the sense of belonging to a European community is constructed according to its spillover agenda from above, but also presents many side effects that constitute salient disconnections between the official goal and the actual perception of the dynamics enabled by the Program implementation.

Conclusion

This thesis has investigated the construction of European supranationalism through a particular point of view. The ethnographic perspective on the analysis of the Erasmus+: Youth in Action Program has allowed the exploration of a European imagined community made of young people and based on international mobility, interculturality and non-formal education methods oriented towards their employability.

In the first part of the research, I have outlined the main theoretical inputs and reviewed the literature that deals critically with the definition of a European identity, culture, citizenship and mobility. Most of this literature examines the development of a trickle-down theory by European bureaucrats from market to civic community, concentrating on the symbols that were established after the middle of 1980s to foster the creation of a cohesive community. Within this literature, the biggest attention has been given to Erasmus university exchanges and the aspects connected with international mobility and European citizenship. On the other hand, my work has aimed at contributing to this field by exploring the dynamics of a program that has not been studied before, the Erasmus+: Youth in Action Program.

This contribution is crucial for three reasons: first of all, it is an attempt to rethink the construction of the European identity from several angles, not only the top-down technical perspective, but also the bottom-up one. Second, such an identity differs from the traditional expressions of political subjectivity, such as the ones embodied in nationalism, usually anchored in the past. The European sense of belonging to a supranational entity is instead constantly in the making and projected towards the future. Thirdly, this research shows how the construction of the European identity goes beyond civic commitment, which is usually represented as its essence. Both symbolic and instrumental components integrate the civic dimension, as happens with nationalisms.

What emerges from the literature are either theoretical considerations on the European identity and citizenship, historical aspects of the EU multilinguistic and multicultural system, and statistical data. My aim has been instead to place those considerations in practice and observe the dynamics of a European construction in the particular field of the Erasmus+: Youth in Action Program, which represents an important step for the socialization of future EU citizens. Therefore, in the second part, I have approached the analysis of a series of texts, including Communications from the European Commission and the Erasmus+ Program Guide. These were analyzed along with one expert interview and three group discussions with the Program's beneficiaries. I have divided my analysis between the exploration of the Program from above, based on the official point of view of the European Commission and complementary information; and from below, drawing from the group discussions and my own perspective of insider ethnography. The attention on the Southern European context of the primary sources has permitted to explore a privileged *locus* where representative narratives take place.

The observation of both the top-down and bottom-up perspective of the Erasmus+: Youth in Action Program has permitted to compare the official aims with the practical results of the projects' implementation. Several findings emerged from this analysis. Some of the pillars of the Program can be identified and put in relation with the main theoretical frameworks proposed: non-formal education and its recognition (connected with the debate on European identity), interculturality (as definition of a European culture), and employability (allowed by the European citizenship and mobility). Moreover, several lines of conflicting interpretation appeared during the thick description of the Erasmus+ Program, while comparing the perspectives from above and from below.

- Non-formal education and its recognition:

From the official point of view, non-formal education is a value-charged methodology that aims to promote a civic engagement against the insurgence of radicalization and neo-nationalisms. The mobilization of young people in a context of peer exchange and discovery of diversity encourage the democratic existence of a European political structure. The meta-reflection on the objectives of

the non-formal education methodology is also being encouraged with a strategy from above, while its reception from below is mostly linked with positive connotations, including the possibility to share unique experiences. The labelling of these opportunities as "European" fosters an emotional attachment as well as concrete tools for the innovation of educational strategies and the guidance towards a transnational, flexible labor market. The future recognition of these experiences at a European level might constitute a counterpart to national education systems, which could be interesting to analyze in further researches on education and nationalism as a means to shape the (supra)national identification.

- Interculturality:

Similarly, interculturality is promoted as the main component of the European identification, following the EU's motto "Unity in diversity". The consequences of setting interculturality as the added value of the Program from the official point of view are connected with the cosmopolitan imagination of the European community, mostly based on flexibility and innovation. Moreover, the directions of the National Agencies influence the goals of the Program according to the context of implementation in terms of re-nationalization of its international purposes. On the other hand, interculturality from below is performed in a very superficial and essentialist way. Cultural exchanges are often reduced to stereotypical vignettes, especially in short-term projects, and mostly they allow to connect personal experiences with intercultural discovery.

- *Employability*:

The official objectives of the Program stress the challenge of youth unemployment as the main enemy of the European Community. From the analysis of the Erasmus+ Guide and Communications from the European Commission clearly emerges the call for cohesion of a supranational Union, based on the transnationality of the labor market and the need to "invest" on youth, while the expert interview has signaled a decrease of this focus – behind the official discourse – after the peak of the economic crisis. On the bottom-up perspective, the discourse on employability includes the facets of entrepreneurship and development of soft skills, which are rather interpreted by the beneficiaries as

tools for self-fulfillment and the possibility to get actively involved in a European dimension. This is also connected with the opportunity to benefit from the freedom of travel and the chance to learn in a non-formal environment.

- Social inclusion:

Another pillar of the Program, recognized by both the top-down and the bottom-up viewpoints, is constituted by the topic of social inclusion. Social inclusion is an overarching discourse that can be translated into different applications. The major aim of the Program is to include young discouraged people that face difficulties mostly in terms of economic (in the words of Jean-Claude Juncker, the 29th EU country constituted by a population of unemployed young people) or social marginalization. In terms of a European supranationalism, social inclusion is a concept once more linked with a civic engagement that tries to reduce the distance between EU institutions and everyday citizens; and to prevent radicalization in terms of neo-nationalism and populism. On the contrary, several mechanisms of exclusion are enabled at the same time, and are reflected especially in several sub-dynamics, such as the opposition between short-term versus long-term projects; local versus global dimension; qualitative versus quantitative approach.

- Impact of the Program:

The personal impact on participants is multi-faceted and context-dependent. For some beneficiaries, short-term projects, especially on teenagers, can leave a strong impression to open the minds of youngest participants and break cultural barriers. On the other side, the impact on personal development and local communities is high only in long-term projects with a qualitative focus. The direction of the European Commission, based on the analysis of its communication and the new budget presented for the upcoming years, is to increase the numbers of participation through the European Solidarity Corps platform, while reducing the measures of support for disadvantaged beneficiaries. In this sense, long-term projects will be particularly increased in number, to allow for a higher transnational mobility of more independent participants.

- Branding and promotion:

The Program communication also exposes the difficulty for participants with fewer opportunities, particularly through its top-down promotion and branding. The difficulty to simplify and communicate clearly the messages and objectives of the Program that comes from above encounters with a stratified accessibility to the Program's opportunities from below. The intersection between class and supra-nationality becomes relevant, since beneficiaries who are socio-culturally better positioned already acquired the *habitus* of a European cosmopolitan socialization and know how to profit from the opportunities offered. Moreover, a supplementary paradox is to be found particularly in the role of the youth workers, who experience the highest level of flexibility and economic insecurities while promoting a Program based on innovation and supposed empowerment of young people in consultation with the EU institutions. This reflects the problematization of a civic definition of the European supranationalism, as a sense of belonging built on the respect of civil rights and active participation.

- Borders and migration:

Finally, a strong contradiction is represented by the redefinition of physical borders advanced by the Program, which is now in a transition phase where the cooperation with extra-EU countries is being reduced. The annual priorities of the Program, lately addressing the inclusion of migrants and refugees, open controversies with the actual implementation inside of national frameworks that highly complicates their status of participation. Furthermore, the distance between officials and beneficiaries in understanding this complexity shows an important difference in the interpretation of the Program from above and from below: while the concern from above is mostly focused on intra-EU mobility and reducing unemployment (thus not indicating migrants as preferred members of the imagined European community), participants give an higher value to the breaking of all barriers and cultural distances.

Ultimately, the Erasmus+: Youth in Action Program represents a particular point of observation of dynamics linked with the development of a European supranational feeling. The Program indirectly fosters a dichotomy between "good Europeanized" versus "bad neo-nationalists"

that do not want to surrender to a cosmopolitan progress. In this sense, it reflects the ambivalence highlighted in the literature between the instrumental character of the EU, based on a common market, freedom of mobility and entrepreneurial innovation, and the symbolic aspect of active participation in a diverse community of engaged citizens. Moreover, the Program offers commodifiable experiences and opportunities more than establishing traditions, identifying in young people the core of a projected identity to be developed looking at a transnational system to be consolidated. For this reason, the future developments of the Erasmus+ Program remain a central issue to be investigated by further analysis on the supranationalist construction of the European Union.

Bibliography

- Abélès, Marc. La Vie quotidienne au Parlement européen. Paris: Hachette, 1992.
- Abélès, Marc, Irène Bellier & Maryon McDonald. *Approche anthropologique de la Commission Européenne*, miméo report, Brussels: European Commission, December 1993.
- Abèles, Marc. «The Practitioners of Europe» in Kastoryano, Riva, & Susan Emmanuel (eds) (2009), *An Identity for Europe: The Relevance of Multiculturalism in EU Construction*. Series in International Relations and Political Economy. New York: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Anderson, Benedict R. O'G. *Imagined Communities: Reflections on the Origin and Spread of Nationalism*. London: Verso, 1991.
- Balibar, Étienne, and James Swenson. We, the People of Europe? Reflections on Transnational Citizenship. Princeton: University Press, 2004.
- Bauböck, Rainer. "Why European Citizenship? Normative Approaches to Supranational Union". *Theoretical Inquiries in Law.* Vol. 8, No. 2. July 2007. pp. 454-488.
- Bellier, Irène, and Thomas M. Wilson. An Anthropology of the European Union: Building, Imagining and Experiencing the New Europe. Berg, 2000.
- Billig, Michael. Banal Nationalism. London, SAGE, 1995.
- Brubaker, Rogers, & Frederick Cooper. «Beyond "Identity"». *Theory and Society* 29, n. 1 (1 February 2000): 1–47.
- Brubaker, Rogers. "Between Nationalism and Civilizationism: The European Populist Moment in Comparative Perspective." *Ethnic and Racial Studies* 40, no. 8 (June 21, 2017): 1191–1226. https://doi.org/10.1080/01419870.2017.1294700.
- Brubaker, Rogers. "Between Nationalism and Civilizationism: The European Populist Moment in Comparative Perspective," *Ethnic and Racial Studies* 40, no. 8 (June 21, 2017): 1191–1226, https://doi.org/10.1080/01419870.2017.1294700.
- Brubaker, Rogers. "The Manichean Myth: Rethinking the Distinction Between 'Civic' and 'Ethnic' Nationalism": 55 72 in (Ed.) Kriesi, Hanspeter. *Nation and national identity: the European experience in perspective*. Zurich, Ruegger, 1999.
- Carta, Caterina & Ruth Wodak. "Discourse Analysis, Policy Analysis, and the Borders of EU Identity," *Journal of Language and Politics* 14, no. 1 (May 26, 2015): 1–17, https://doi.org/10.1075/jlp.14.1.01car.
- De Federico, Ainhoa. "Amitiés Européennes." Informations Sociales, no. 3 (2008): 120–127.
- Duchesne, Sophie. «Waiting for a European Identity ... Reflections on the Process of Identification with Europe». *Perspectives on European Politics and Society* 9, n. 4 (December 2008): 397–410.
- European Commission. "EU Budget for the Future", 2 May 2018. Accessed May 16, 2018: https://ec.europa.eu/commission/sites/beta-political/files/budget-proposals-investing-people-may2018_en.pdf
- European Commission. «What is Erasmus Plus?» Accessed February 21, 2018: https://ec.europa.eu/programmes/erasmus-plus/

- European Commission. *Erasmus+ Evaluations*, https://ec.europa.eu/programmes/erasmus-plus/resources/documents.evaluations en
- European Commission. *Erasmus+ Program Guide* (*Version 2, 2018*). Accessed February 21, 2018: http://ec.europa.eu/programmes/erasmus-plus/resources/programme-guide_en
- European Commission. *Erasmus+ Resources*, 2017. Accessed February 21, 2018: https://ec.europa.eu/programmes/erasmus-plus/anniversary/resources.
- European Commission. Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions:
 - "A Budget for Europe 2020". Brussels, 29 June 2011, Accessed May 16, 2018: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=LEGISSUM%3Abu0001
 - "Investing in Europe's Youth". Brussels, 7 December 2016, Accessed May 16, 2018: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=COM:2016:940:FIN
 - "A European Solidarity Corps". Brussels, 7 December 2016, Accessed May 16, 2018: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=COM%3A2016%3A942%3AFIN
 - "Strengthening European Identity through Education and Culture". Strasbourg, 14 November 2017, Accessed May 16, 2918: https://ec.europa.eu/commission/sites/beta-political/files/communication-strengthening-european-identity-education-culture en.pdf
 - "A Modern Budget for a Union that Protects, Empowers and Defends. The Multiannual Financial Framework for 2021-2027". Brussels, 2 May 2018, Accessed May 16, 2018: https://ec.europa.eu/commission/sites/beta-political/files/communication-modern-budget-may 2018 en.pdf
- European Commission. *Proposal for a Regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council laying down the legal framework of the European Solidarity Corps and amending Regulations*. Brussels, 30 May 2017, Accessed May 16, 2018: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:52017PC0262&from=EN
- European Commission. Report from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions. "Mid-term evaluation of the Erasmus+ Program (2014 2020). Brussels, 31 January 2018, Accessed May 16, 2018: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:52018DC0050&from=FR
- Eurostat, *People in the EU Statistics on origin of residents*. 2011. Accessed April 14, 2018: http://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-explained/index.php/People in the EU %E2%80%93 statistics on origin of residents.
- European Youth Forum. *Shadow Report on the Mid-Term Evaluation on the Erasmus+ Youth Chapter*, 2017. Available at (accessed on 1/5/2018): http://www.youthforum.org/shadow-report-mid-term-evaluation-erasmus-youth-chapter
- Fornäs, Johan. "Meanings of Money: The Euro as a Sign of Value and of Cultural Identity" in ed. William Uricchio. *We Europeans? Media, Representations, Identities*. Oxford: Intellect, pp. 123 140, 2009.
- Gillespie, P. & Laffan, B. «European identity: Theory and empirics», in: M. Cini & A. K. Bourne (Eds) *Palgrave Advances in European Union Studies*, pp. 131–150. Basingstoke, UK: Palgrave Macmillan, 2006.
- Grillo, R. D. "Cultural Essentialism and Cultural Anxiety." *Anthropological Theory* 3, no. 2 (June 2003): 157–73. https://doi.org/10.1177/1463499603003002002.

- Hennigh, Lawrence. "The anthropologist as key informant: inside a rural Oregon town". In *Anthropologists at Home in North America, Methods and Issues in the Study of One's Own Society*. Edited by Donald A. Messerschmidt. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, pp. 121–132, 1981.
- Hobsbawm, Eric J., and Terence O. Ranger, eds. *The Invention of Tradition*. Cambridge: Cambridge Univ. Press, 1983.
- Jones, Calvert W. "Exploring the Microfoundations of International Community: Toward a Theory of Enlightened Nationalism." *International Studies Quarterly* 58, no. 4: 682–705, 2014.
- Joppke, Christian. "Citizenship Light". In *Citizenship and Immigration*. Cambridge: Polity Press, 145-172, 2010.
- Kymlicka, Will. «Multicultural States and Intercultural Citizens». School Field 1, n. 2 (July 2003).
- Marcus, George E. "Ethnography in/of the world system: The emergence of multi-sited ethnography". *Annual Review of Anthropology* 24: 95–117, 1995.
- Mikenberg, Michael. *The Radical Right in Eastern Europe: Democracy Under Siege?* New York: Palgrave, 67-97, 2017.
- Mitchell, Kristine. «Student mobility and European Identity: Erasmus Study as a civic experience?» Journal of Contemporary European Research 8, n. 4 (2012).
- Neveu, Catherine and Elena Filippova. "Citizenship(s) in European Contexts". Eds. Kockel, Ullrich; Nic Craith, Máiréad and Jonas Frykman. *A Companion to the Anthropology of Europe*. Blackwell Publishing, 2012.
- Neveu, Catherine. "European Citizenship, Citizens of Europe and European Citizens" pp. 119 135. Eds. Bellier, Irène, and Thomas M. Wilson. *An Anthropology of the European Union: Building, Imagining and Experiencing the New Europe*. Berg, 2000.
- O'Reilly, Karen. *Key Concepts in Ethnography*. London: SAGE Publications Ltd., 2009. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781446268308.
- Olsen, Jonathan, & John McCormick. *The European Union : politics and policies*. Boulder, CO: Westview Press, c2017, 2016.
- POLITICO. "Commission Wants Bigger Budget for Smaller EU,". May 2, 2018, https://www.politico.eu/article/european-commission-proposes-eu-budget-cap-multiannual-financial-framework-guenther-oettinger/.
- Pozzoni, Federico. "Youth Work and Serendipity: Some Anthropological Implications." *Soc. Sci.* 7, no. 3: 45, 2018. doi:10.3390/socsci7030045.
- Raffini, Luca. "Quando La Generazione Erasmus Incontra La Generazione Precaria. La Mobilità Transnazionale Dei Giovani Italiani e Spagnoli." *OBETS. Revista de Ciencias Sociales* 9, no. 1: 139–65, 2014. https://doi.org/10.14198/OBETS2014.9.1.05.
- Reisigl, Martin and Ruth Wodak. "The Discourse-Historical Approach (Dha)," in *Discourse and Discrimination. Rhetorics of racism and antisemitism*. Edinburgh University Press, 2005.
- Renan, Ernest. *Qu'est-ce qu'une nation?* Paris, Presses-Pocket, 1882.
- SALTO-Youth Training and Cooperation Resource Centre. *Glossary* of the *European Training Strategy III*. August 2014. Accessed April 15, 2018: https://www.salto-youth.net/downloads/4-17-3045/Glossary%20-%20Set_of_trainer_competences_low%20resolution.pdf.

- Shaw, Jo. *The Transformation of Citizenship in the European Union*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. 2007. pp. 36-51.
- Shore, Cris. Building Europe: The Cultural Politics of European Integration. Psychology Press, 2000.
- Shore, Cris. "Inventing Homo europeaus . The Cultural Politics of European Integration." In *Europe: Cultural Construction and Reality* . P . Niederm ü ller and B . Stoklund , eds. pp. 53 66 . Copenhagen : Museum Tusculanum, 2001.
- Shore, Cris. "European Integration in Anthropological Perspective: Studying the 'Culture' of the EU Civil Service". Eds. R. Rhodes, P. 't Hart, and M. Noordegraaf. *Observing Government Elites: Up Close and Personal*. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan, pp. 180 205, 2007.
- Shore, Cris and Annabel Black. "Citizen's Europe and the Construction of European Identity" in ed. Goddard, Victoria A., Josep R. Llobera, and Cris Shore. *The Anthropology of Europe : Identity and Boundaries in Conflict.* Explorations in Anthropology. Oxford: Berg, pp. 275 298, 1994.
- Shore, Cris. "Government without Statehood'? Anthropological Perspectives on Governance and Sovereignty in the European Union." European Law Journal 12, no. 6: 709–724, 2006.
- Siklodi, N. "Active Citizenship through Mobility? Students' Perceptions of Identity, Rights and Participation in the EU." *Citizenship Studies* 19, no. 6–7 (August 18, 2015): 820–35. https://doi.org/10.1080/13621025.2015.1053792.
- Standing, Guy. The Precariat: The New Dangerous Class. A& C Black, 2011.
- Thedvall, Renita. "The EU's Nomads: National Eurocrats in European Policy Making". Eds. R. Rhodes, P. 't Hart, and M. Noordegraaf. *Observing Government Elites: Up Close and Personal*. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan, pp. 160 179, 2007.
- Weiss, Gilbert & Ruth Wodak. "Debating Europe: Globalization Rhetoric and European Union Unemployment Policies". In *An Anthropology of the European Union: Building, Imagining and Experiencing the New Europe*. Berg, 2000, pp. 75 92.
- Wilken, Lisanne. "Anthropological Studies of European Identity Construction". Eds. Kockel, Ullrich, Maiiréad Nic Craith, and Jonas Frykman. *A Companion to the Anthropology of* Europe. John Wiley & Sons, 2015.
- Wodak, Ruth & Salomi Boukala, "European Identities and the Revival of Nationalism in the European Union: A Discourse Historical Approach," *Journal of Language and Politics* 14, no. 1 (May 26, 2015): 87–109, https://doi.org/10.1075/jlp.14.1.05wod.